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A. Executive Summary

A.1 Regulatory Constraints and Reliefs

A2

As a member of the 28-nation European Economic Area,
Iceland implements the same basic liberal business philosophy
as the European Union. Except in a few limited areas, all EU
commercial legislation and directives take effect in Iceland.
Consequently, Iceland makes an ideal springboard for tariff-
free access to the major EU market area, as well as a fully com-
petitive location for EU companies to operate.

Exchange Controls

No restrictions are imposed in Iceland on buying or selling of
foreign exchange.

Foreign Ownership of Business

In principle, foreign ownership of business is unrestricted.
However, some limitations apply to specific sectors, namely
fishing, primary fish processing, energy production and avia-
tion.

A wide range of portfolio investment options are available
through licensed securities trading companies.

Official Attitude and Incentives

Iceland has systematically made its business environment
increasingly attractive for investment and location, among
other things with the series of tax cuts, which give Iceland one
of the lowest levels of corporate income tax in Europe.

Advantages offered by Iceland for industrial investors include
the most competitive electricity prices in Europe at 2-3 US
cents/kWh for large industrial users depending upon delivery
terms, and industrial steam at 6 barg or USD 3 per metric
tonne. Industrial sites with good natural harbours, for small
and large ventures, are available in many parts of the country,
and many local authorities have designed development strate-
gies and scenarios, which provide for new investments. Highly
skilled labour is available, including experts in software and a
wide range of research fields.
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Special incentives are granted for film and TV production in
Iceland, whereby 12% of total costs are refundable. Production
cost incurred in other EEA countries is also refundable within
certain limits.

A.3 Tax System

The Icelandic tax system is relatively simple and effective.
The emphasis has been to simplify it further, reduce tax rates,
broaden the tax base and conclude more double taxation con-
ventions, which will increase the competitiveness of Icelandic
corporations and attract foreign investors.

With corporate income tax of 18% Iceland ranks among the
lowest tax rates within the OECD member countries.

Some characteristics of Icelandic tax law:

* Corporate income tax of 18% on net income only levied by
the state;

* Dividends received by corporations are not taxable. No
requirements relating to percentage of stock ownership in
the corporate payer apply;

* Consolidated returns available for corporations under 90%
common control;

* No branch profits tax levied on repatriated profits from
branches;

* Double taxation treaties available;

* Foreign tax credit available to avoid double taxation in the
absence of tax treaties;

* No legislation on controlled foreign corporations;

* No legislation on “thin capitalization”;

* No basket system regarding the foreign tax credit.

Taxes on Businesses

Companies resident in Iceland, and Icelandic branches of for-
eign resident companies, are liable for corporate income tax
(national income tax) on their net earnings. The corporate tax
rate is 18% and no local corporate tax rate is applied.

Net worth taxes on companies and individuals in Iceland have
been abolished.

Real estate taxes are paid locally by businesses, along with
local service charges.
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Personal Income Taxes

Individuals resident in Iceland are liable to income tax at the
rate of 36.72%, on all earned yearly income above ISK 948,646
(USD 15,027).!

Personal income tax is withheld at source and paid as you
earn. It is divided into national income tax (23.75%) and
municipal income tax (averaging 12.97%), making a total of
36.72%.

Financial income of individuals is taxed at the rate of 10%.

Resident individuals are taxed on their worldwide income.

Non-resident individuals become tax residents if they stay in
the country for more than 183 days out of a 12-month period.

A non-resident individual is taxed on Icelandic-sourced
income.

A.4 Financial Reporting and Audit Requirements

Every company resident and operating in Iceland must sub-
mit annual accounts that comply with statutory accounting
rules and disclosures, and reflect a true and fair view of the
company’s assets, liabilities, results and financial position.
Presentation is modelled upon standard EU requirements. The
requirement of adjustments being made to revalue assets and
liabilities on the principles of inflationary accounting was
abolished in 2001.

Companies above a certain size, which are publicly traded
and have subsidiaries, are required to prepare consolidated
group accounts. Tax returns are filed with local tax authorities.

Corporations registered in Iceland, with the main part of their
income from foreign sources, can apply to keep their books of
accounts and records in a foreign currency.

Publicly traded companies are allowed to issue their share
capital in a foreign currency. Other non-publicly traded limited
liability companies with the main part of their income from
foreign sources are also allowed to issue their share capital in a
foreign currency provided that certain requirements are met.

1) Exchange rate (average buying/selling) on January 2nd, 2006: USD 1 =ISK 63.13

" In 2005 an additional tax of 2% is levied on all earned income in excess of ISK

4,191,686 (USD 67,651). In 2006 this additional tax will be abolished.
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A.5 Guidance and Services for Potential Investors

To coordinate efforts for attracting inward investments to
Iceland, the Ministry of Industry and Commerce has estab-
lished a “one-stop shop,” the Invest in Iceland Agency, run by
the Trade Council of Iceland. The Agency is responsible for
attracting inward investments to Iceland. The Invest in Iceland
Agency offers free and confidential services to potential
investors on all aspects of location, arranges contacts with rel-
evant authorities and companies, fact-finding visits, etc.

Invest in Iceland Agency

Borgarttn 35

IS - 105 Reykjavik

Tel.: 561 5200 Fax: 511 4040

e-mail: info@invest.is Website: www.invest.is
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B. General Background
B.1 Physical Background

Geography, Climate and Geology

Iceland is located in the North Atlantic, about 3 hours by air
from major cities in Western Europe and 5-6 hours from the
East Coast of the USA. Shipping distances are 3-4 days to
Europe and 7-8 days to eastern North America. Its mid-
Atlantic location makes Iceland an ideal base for companies
with business in both continents. Geologically it is a young
country, whose active volcanic forces have created huge
resources of geothermal energy, which can provide low-cost
industrial steam and electricity, while pollution-free hydropow-
er resources have to some extent been developed in the moun-
tainous highland terrain.

Despite its name, Iceland has a relatively mild climate for its
northerly location at a latitude from 63°24’ to 66°33’N and lon-
gitude from 13°30° to 24°32’W. The mean annual temperature
in the capital, Reykjavik, is -0.5°C in January (which is warmer
than New York) and 10.6°C in July. Temperatures for the main
northern town of Akureyri are -2.2°C in January and 10.5°C in
July.

Resource Base

The location and geology of Iceland determine its main
resources, which are fish from some of the richest and cleanest
waters in the world and “green” hydro and geothermal energy.
Iceland is the 11th largest fishing nation in the world, based on
its catch volume in 2002. Another major resource is Iceland’s
unspoilt natural environment on which a large and growing
tourist industry is based. High levels of education, openness to
innovation and specialist know-how also make Iceland’s human
resources an important asset for investors in many fields.

History

Iceland was settled in the ninth century by pioneering Vikings
on the westward expansion, which took them as far as the
shores of North America. They founded a unique republic in
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930, and the oldest national parliament still functioning in the
world today. Iceland passed under Norwegian and later Danish
rule but became a fully independent republic again in 1944.

Language

Icelandic, the language spoken by the Icelanders, is really the
ancient tongue of the Vikings and has changed remarkably
little during the eleven centuries since the country was first
settled. Knowledge of English is almost universal and most
people speak some Danish or one of the other Scandinavian
languages. The majority of students past compulsory schooling
age learn German or French.

Population

Total population: 299,404 (December 1, 2005). Some 38% of
the population live in the capital, Reykjavik, and 63% in the
capital and neighbouring communities.

Source: Statistics Iceland.

For updates see website: www.statice.is (www.hagstofa.is)
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MAIN POPULATION CENTRES:

POPULATION
Reykjavik (capital), SW 113,730
Koépavogur, SW 25,784
Hafnarfjorour, SW 21,942
Greater Reykjavik Area, total 183,990
Akureyri, N 16,450
Keflavik (Reykjanesbar), SW 10,954
Arborg (Selfoss, etc.), S 6,522
Akranes, W 5,655
Westman Islands, S 4,227
[safjordur, NW 4,131
Skagafjorour (Saudarkrokur, etc.), N 4,141
Eskifjorour/Neskaupstadur/Reydarfjordur (Fjardarbyggd), E 3,175
Husavik, N 2,426
Héfn, E 2,225
Egilsstaoir (Fljotdalshérad), E 3,364

WORKFORCE:

Total workforce 162,400
Participation rate 81.5%
Males 85.9%
Females 77.1%

With 24% of its population aged 15 and below, and 12% aged
65 or above, Iceland has the youngest population in Europe.

B.2 International Framework

Iceland is a founding member of the European Economic
Area (EEA)'. This free-trade zone allows the tariff-free move-
ment of goods, services, capital and labour. A company domi-
ciled in any of the other 28 member countries of the EEA, and
in fact in any of the OECD countries, has the same rights to
operate in Iceland as an Icelandic-registered company. It only
needs to apply for the same permits and registration as an
Icelandic-domiciled company. Companies registered in Iceland
are permitted to operate in all the countries of the EEA without

' Member states in 2006: Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Czech Republick, Denmark,
Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia,
Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal,
Slovac Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden and United Kingdom.
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any special permits or legislation. The same rules apply to
movements of labour. A national of a foreign country who
intends to stay in Iceland for a period exceeding three months
must have a residence permit. However, a national of an EEA
member country in search of a job is allowed to stay in Iceland
for six months without a residence permit (for further infor-
mation see www.utl.is). A standard tax credit can be obtained
within the tax authorities. Iceland is actively involved in the
work of major international organisations. It is a member of the
United Nations, Council of Europe, NATO, EFTA, OECD,
GATT, GATS and WTO, and cooperates particularly closely in
cultural and social fields with Scandinavian countries through
the Nordic Council.

B.3 Government and Political System

National Government

Iceland is a parliamentary democratic republic. The head of
state is the President, elected for a term of four years at a time,
whose duties lie outside day-to-day party politics. The govern-
ment is led by the Prime Minister.

Parliamentary elections are held at intervals of no more than
four years. There are 63 members of parliament, elected by
proportional representation. Since no party has secured a par-
liamentary majority since the establishment of the Republic in
1944, Iceland has always been ruled by coalition governments.

After the 2003 national election, the centre-right coalition of
the Independence Party (IP) and the Progressive Party (PP)
continued in office for a third term with Mr. Davio Oddsson,
former leader of the IP, as Prime Minister, and Mr. Halldér
Asgrimsson, leader of the PP, as Minister of Foreign Affairs.
However, on September 15th, 2004, Mr. Halldor Asgrimsson
was appointed Prime Minister. Mr. Geir H. Haarde the current
leader of the IP, is now Minister for Foreign Affairs. The twelve
ministers in the government are all members of parliament.

Parliamentary seats were won in the May 2003 general elec-
tion by the Independence Party (centre-right) (22), the
Progressive Party (centre) (12), the Social Democratic Alliance
(20), the Left Green Party (5) and the Liberal Party (4).

16 Doing Business in Iceland



Parliamentary elections will be held next time in May 2007.
For further information and updates see www.government.is.

Local Government

Local elections are held every four years.

Municipalities are responsible for specific services including
basic health care and compulsory education, and are allocated
part of income tax revenues to fund their operations, along with
property taxes and other smaller levies.

B.4 Legal Environment

Legislative Process

Parliament consists of a single chamber of 63 members and a
simple majority is required for ordinary bills to become law,
while constitutional amendments require a two-thirds majority
and take effect if they are then approved by the parliament,
which convenes after the following general election. Approved
bills are ratified by the President, who has the formal power of
vetoing a bill and referring it to a national referendum,
although this has only once been used under the Republic.

Bills may be introduced either by the government or ministers
responsible for the issues in question, or by private members,
including the opposition. After their introduction in parliament,
bills are given at least three readings before being voted on,
and in many cases are sent to a parliamentary committee in
between.

Courts

Under the Constitution, sentences may be passed by the
courts only. The courts are divided into two classes: the Lower
Courts, where most cases are heard, and the Supreme Court,
which hears appeals from the lower courts.

There are eight lower courts and one Supreme Court, all hear-
ing private and public cases.

A special court called the Labour Court is concerned with
labour disputes.
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C. Business and Economic Background

C.1 Investment and Business Environment

Industrial investment in Iceland has grown annually since
1995 and will increase substantially the next coming years as
new aluminium investments go on-stream. ALCOA will start
production in 320,000 tons in 2007. Foreign direct investment
in Iceland, which involves an influence on corporations’ boards
or at least 10% ownership in a corporation reached ISK
121,873 billion (USD 1,930,508 million) by the end of 2004.
Main sources of investment have been USA, Luxembourg,
Belgium, Guernsey, Germany, Norway, Switzerlande and
Cyprus.

Annual average unemployment was 2.6% in 2005 and labour
force mobility, both geographical and between jobs, is very
high, even though labour turnover is low. The labour force is
relatively young compared with neighbouring countries, with
64% of the population aged between 16 and 65.

C.2 Economic Growth

The Central Bank of Iceland’s main objective is price stabili-
ty, defined as a 12-month rise in the CPI of 2.5%. If it deviates
by more than 1.5% in either direction, the Central Bank is
obliged to present the Government with a report, which will be
made public, explaining the reasons for the deviation from the
target and the Bank’s responses to the deviation. Inflation was
2.1% in 2003 and 3.2% in 2004. The Central Bank forecasts
inflation to be above the inflation target in 2006 and 2007.
Planned investments for the aluminium industry have been
stepped up even further, at the same time as household access
to credit has been made much easier and long-term interest
rates on mortgage lending have gone down. Proposed tax cuts
over the next few years will be implemented, which will boost
household disposable income even more and stimulate private
consumption. The Central Bank of Iceland estimates that
inflation will be 4.4% in 2005 and at 3.3% in 2006 and 3.6%
in 2007. Accordingly, the inflation target will not be attained
until 2008, if the monetary stance remains unchanged.
Prospects for economic growth have improved. Economic
growth was -0.6% in 2002, 4.3% in 2003, 6.2% in 2004, 6.6%
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in 2005 and is expected to be 4.6% in 2006. With a GDP per
capita of USD 41,800 in 2004, Iceland was ranked among the
six most prosperous nations in the world (OECD, 2005).

Most barriers to investment have been abolished with the
European Economic Area (see section D.2 below) and Iceland’s
stable, growth-led economy, innovative environment, well edu-
cated labour force and competitive labour costs make it a very
attractive location for new ventures today.

C.3 Currency

The official currency unit of Iceland is the krona (ISK). The
exchange rate of the krona is determined on the interbank mar-
ket for foreign exchange. Since March 2001 the krona has been
floating more or less freely in the context of an inflation tar-
geting framework. Iceland is not a member of the EU and
therefore not of its monetary union, and is not mandated to use
the Euro.

C.4 Economic Structure

The basic sectors in the Icelandic economy are various serv-
ices, both private and public (accounting for 64.9% of GDP in
2004), manufacturing industries, construction and utilities
(24.4%), and fisheries (fishing and fish processing, accounting
for 8.7% of GDP in 2004). Public ownership is being system-
atically phased down by privatisation and the main role of the
public sector is in health, education and social welfare.

The export base is relatively narrow and largely based on nat-
ural resources, namely fisheries products and output from
industries powered by renewable energy sources (hydropower
and geothermal power). Foreign investment is mainly concen-
trated in export-orientated sectors, although plenty of opportu-
nities are available for serving the small but highly con-
sumeristic domestic market as well, on both the production and
retail side. New exciting sectors for investment is information
technology, life science and tourism in Iceland, which has
grown increasingly in the last few years.

C.5 Relationship of Government and Business

Access to official bodies and agencies is very easy in
Iceland’s small society, with a minimum of red tape.
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Government policy in Iceland aims to provide a fair, efficient
and competition-driven operating environment for companies
within a market economy, and to encourage foreign investment,
especially in areas that diversify the economy. Iceland’s corpo-
rate income tax of 18% is one of the lowest in Europe and
among the OECD member countries. For more than a decade,
the government has tailored packages of measures to fit pay
agreements negotiated in collective bargaining between
employers and unions. Pay agreements were negotiated for
most sectors of the labour force in 2004, which will remain in
effect until December 31, 2007.

Privatisation and Economic Restructuring

It is the stated policy of Iceland’s government to scale down
public sector activities in areas, which could be handled by pri-
vate operators without raising social costs.

To an increasing extent, public supplies and services are
being contracted out. Tenders are mandatory for all procure-
ment of supplies exceeding ISK 5,410,000 (USD 85,696) and
procurement of services and works exceeding ISK 10,819,000
(USD 171,377) throughout the EEA/EU countries.

Privatisation began in the late 1980s and some state-owned
enterprises have already been sold, while others have been
converted to corporations and the plan is to privatise them in
part or whole. Among the incorporated state-owned enterpris-
es are power companies and a mail company. Shares in indus-
trial ventures, in which the state took part as a founder, have
also been announced for sale.

Regulatory Environment

Operating licences are required for businesses in certain sec-
tors, for example manufacturing industries, and are granted on
fulfilment of clearly defined rules. Details of regulations, mon-
itoring and inspection agencies, etc., vary from one sector to
the next, and the Invest in Iceland Agency will help to establish
contacts and offer guidance.

Broadly speaking, as a member of the European Economic
Area Iceland operates its regulatory environment on the same
principles as the European Union.
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C.6 Financial Sector

Introduction

The Icelandic financial system is broadly in line with those of
other European and Western nations, and largely in harmony
with European Union legislation. In recent years the govern-
ment has emphasised privatisation and economic liberalisation.

Business credit is offered by commercial and savings banks,
investment banks and securities houses.

A strong non-bank sector has evolved, covering stock
broking, leasing and a wide range of other financial services.

International players are established in insurance and
Icelandic finance companies have associations with global
funds.

Central Bank

The Central Bank of Iceland has the main objective of ensur-
ing price stability, as defined by an inflation target of 2.5%.
The Bank has been granted full independence to implement
monetary policy. Any direct access by the government to
Central Bank financing has been formally closed. The Bank
has put increasing emphasis on monitoring financial stability.
Furthermore, the Central Bank administrates Iceland’s foreign
exchange reserves and acts both as fiscal agent for the govern-
ment and the borrowing agent for the Republic of Iceland in
international capital markets.

Standard Central Bank functions with regard to commercial
and savings banks and other credit institutions include acting
as a lender of last resort and clearing agent. The main mone-
tary instrument of the Central Bank is the rate on repurchase
contracts, which are auctioned weekly. Hitherto the Bank has
only auctioned two-week contracts.

Central Bank website: www.sedlabanki.is

Financial Supervisory Authority

The Financial Supervisory Authority is an independent state
authority with its own board of directors, which monitors com-
pliance with laws and regulations covering factors such as lig-
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uidity and capital adequacy of parties subject to its supervision
and that they are in every respect consistent with sound and
proper business practices. Parties subject to supervision are
commercial banks, savings banks, credit undertakings (invest-
ment banks), deposit departments of co-operative societies,
securities companies, securities brokerages, management com-
panies of UCITS, stock exchanges, central securities deposito-
ries, pension funds, insurance companies and insurance bro-
kers licensed to operate in Iceland.
Financial Supervisory Authority website: www.fme.is

Commercial Banks and Savings Banks

There are four commercial banks in Iceland, three of them
being listed on the Iceland Stock Exchange. The fourth is
owned by 24 local savings banks and acts as their service and
clearing bank. In addition, deposit-receiving facilities are oper-
ated by the Postal Giro system.

Originally Iceland’s banks were sector-targeted but now all
offer a full range of financial services (including non-bank
activities through subsidiaries) to businesses and individuals.
Housing mortgages used to be mostly handled by a state
agency, but the commercial banks have entered the market.
Loans are now disbursed to borrowers in cash, instead of the
old tradable housing bonds.

Bank services include all regular lending, deposit and current
account services. Interest rates and other terms vary consider-
ably and are determined by market forces. Companies and indi-
viduals can hold bank accounts in Iceland denominated in
major foreign currencies.

Indexation of financial obligations, a legacy from the infla-
tionary 1980s, is being phased out on shorter maturities and no
longer applies to financial obligations for a shorter period than
five years. One striking feature of banking activities in Iceland
is the predominance of electronic transactions. Cheques are
becoming quite rare in day-to-day business and Iceland has the
highest per capita payment card ownership in the world, with
400,481 debit cards and 275,967 credit cards in January 2006,
among a population of 299,000.
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Iceland adopted the BIS standard for capital adequacy of
commercial and savings banks in 1992.

Financing Investments

A state-owned New Business Venture Fund has the specific
aim of funding innovations, research-driven projects and the
like.

A Regional Development Fund also provides credit and
grants for projects located outside the capital area.

Iceland’s commercial banks are actively engaged in corporate
lending and have extensive links with foreign banks for this
purpose. Twelve credit institutions, other than the commercial
banks, currently operate in Iceland, three of which are invest-
ment banks, three are investment funds and two are leasing
companies.

Mortgage Finance

The main source of mortgage finance for private housing has
been through the State Housing Fund. However, major changes
took place in the Icelandic mortgage market in 2004. The Fund
used to issue tradeable bonds, but the format was changed in
July 2004. Loans are now disbursed to borrowers in cash,
instead of the old tradable housing bonds. There is a ceiling
on mortgage levels and applicants are means-tested.

The commercial banks have captured a share of the market.
They offer CPI-indexed mortgages and a loan-to-value ratio of
up to 80% and some even up to 100%. Interest rates on mort-
gage loans have mostly come down to 4.15% (January 2005)
compared with 5.1% indexed interest rate on the housing
bonds. The maturity of the loans is up to 40 years. These
loans are not confined to housing purchases, they can also be
taken for refinancing and mortgage equity withdrawal. Some
savings banks and pension funds have responded to this com-
petition by lowering their interest rates and raising their loan-
to-value ratio.

Most mortgages are indexed, generally against the consumer
price index.

Although properties are more expensive in the Greater
Reykjavik Area than outside it, and although “desirable areas”
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do exist, the property price range is much narrower than in
more populous countries and cities.

Iceland Stock Exchange
See chapter E.11

Institutional Investors

Pension funds, often organized along labour union lines, are
a major player in the Icelandic financial system with net assets
of ISK 986.5 billion (USD 15.626 million) on December 31st,
2004. They have played a large role in housing finance, both
through their own lending and purchases of mortgage bonds,
and are becoming an increasing presence in other investment
areas, including equity and foreign securities.

Some 46 unit trusts (ucits), run by 6 management companies,
were in operation in Iceland on June 30th, 2005, and twelve
investment funds. Ten domestic insurance companies operate
as well, and are large players in the Icelandic securities market
with around half their investment portfolio in marketable
shares.

Source: Financial Supervisory Authority, www.fme.is

Interest Rates

Interest rates are determined by market forces in Iceland. A
formal inflation target has been adopted by the Central Bank,
which may influence interest rates through market operations
to reach the inflation target. The Bank’s main instrument is its
repurchase agreements (repos) with credit institutions. Its main
rate is determined at weekly Central Bank repo auctions. In
recent years, interest rates in Iceland have been considerably
higher than those among its major trading partners.

Exchange Rate

Market forces directly influence the exchange rate of the
kréna in Iceland’s interbank market for foreign exchange. The
Central Bank is authorised to intervene, but ceased acting as a
market maker in 1997.

The exchange rate of the krona is measured against a basket
of the currencies of its 18 main trading partners, which is
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weighted in terms of each country’s share in trade of goods and
services and is revised annually.

Credit Rating
REPUBLIC OF ICELAND CREDIT RATINGS 2005
FOREIGN DOMESTIC
CURRENCY CURRENCY
LONG SHORT LONG SHORT
TERM TERM TERM TERM
Moody’s Investor Service Aaa P-1 Aaa P-1
Standard & Poor’s AA- A-1+ AA+ A-1+
Fitch AA- Fl1+ AAA -

It can be inferred from the ratings agencies’ reports that
Iceland’s creditworthiness has strengthened significantly over
the past decade, supported by a robust GDP growth in recent
years, fiscal consolidation, structural reforms, a more diversi-
fied export base and the increased flexibility of the economy.
These ratings balance the near-term concerns of the imbal-
ances in domestic economy, escalating asset prices and grow-
ing net external indebtedness against the longer term benefits
that should accrue from the huge investments underway in the
aluminium and power-related sectors of the economy.
However, the rating firms have recently underlined the flexi-
bility of the Icelandic economy and its capacity to sort out
these imbalances.

C.7 Main Sources of Finance

The bulk of funds used by foreign companies investing in
Iceland have traditionally been raised in international finance
markets. Foreign-owned subsidiaries or branches may raise
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funds in any country without restriction and have full access to
Iceland’s finance market.

Icelandic domestic finance companies offer a broad range of

services, including:

* Medium-term and long-term financing: Longer loans may
be negotiated directly with banks and other credit institu-
tions, and are generally indexed. There has been an increas-
ing trend towards raising longer-term capital through bond
issues.

* Leasing, hire purchase, factoring: and a full array of other
financial services are available in Iceland within the bank-
ing and non-bank sectors.

» Export guarantees: may be negotiated with banks.

C.8 Energy and Other Resources

Iceland’s main natural resource outside the fishing industry is
its energy production from renewable, non-polluting sources.
Even after a build up in power-intensive industry towards the end
of the 1990s, only 23% of Iceland’s 30 TWh of technically, eco-
logically and economically feasible hydropower potential has
been harnessed, and 8% of its 20 TWh of geothermal energy.

Imported fossil fuels account for one-third of Iceland’s energy
consumption and are almost entirely used for transportation.
Some 90% of houses in the country are heated from geothermal
sources, following large-scale development of this energy source
during the oil crisis of the 1970s. Geothermal steam is also used
for electricity generation and for certain specialised industrial
applications.

C.9 Industrial Structure

Iceland’s economy is diversified in character, with strong export
bases in fisheries and metal industries, and large services and
import sectors. There are several large Icelandic-owned corpora-
tions in international seafood sales, financial transactions and
transportation, as well as in power-intensive industrial manufac-
turing, which includes foreign investment, but these industries are
predominantly occupied by small and medium-sized businesses.
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ECONOMIC SECTORS BY PERCENTAGE OF GDP IN 2004*
SECTOR PER CENT OF GDP
Agriculture 1.4
Fishing and fish processing 8.7
Mining and quarrying 0.1
Manufacturing, other 9.6
Electricity and water supply 34
Construction 8.7
Commerce, hotels and restaurants 13.1
Transport, storage and communication 7.9
Other private services 21.9
Producers of government services 25.0
Total industries 100.0
*Estimated figures

Source: Statistics Iceland (www.statice.is)

C.10 Foreign Trade

Main Products and Trading Partners

Although some industry segments compete both in the small
domestic market and in international export markets, in gener-
al Iceland has to maintain a high level of imports to supply con-
sumer needs, and therefore a high level of exports to finance
them. Exports of goods and services accounted for 37.1% of
GDP 1999-2003 (period average). (Source: Central Bank of
Iceland, www.sedlabanki.is)

Marine products account for ca. 60% of Iceland’s total
exports and around 40% of its foreign currency earnings,
despite greater export diversity and stricter fishing quotas. The
main reason is the steady growth of value-added processing of
seafood products, catch diversification and responsiveness to
market trends. Metals from power-intensive industries account-
ed for 22% of goods exports in 2004. Another important export
sector is a wide range of equipment for the fishing industry,
while software and pharmaceutical exports are growing rapid-
ly and biotechnology is now reaching the export stage too.
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Services account for 36% of foreign currency earnings, there-
of tourism 12.4%.

Leading import items are industrial supplies, capital goods,
transport equipment, consumer goods and food and beverages.

European Economic Area countries accounted for 78.2% of
all Iceland’s exports and 70.4% of imports in 2004, led by the
UK (19% of exports/6.8% of imports) and Germany
(17.7%/12.6%). The USA accounted for 9.3%/10.1%, The
Netherlands 10.7%/5.7%, Norway for 3.0%/9.6% and Japan
for 3.0%/3.8%. (Source: Statistics Iceland, www.statice.is)

International and Regional Trade Associations

Iceland joined the European Free Trade Area (EFTA) in 1970
and was one of the founding members of the now 28-nation
European Economic Area — set up by the European Union and
EFTA in 1994 and enlarged in 2004 — a no-tariff market of 450
million people. Iceland also belongs to the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), General
Agreement on Tariffs and Services (GATS) and the World
Trade Organisation (WTO), as well as the United Nations and
its agencies, and NATO. Furthermore, Iceland is a signatory to
many international agreements, for example on patents and
intellectual property rights.

Iceland is a member of the Nordic Council together with
Denmark, Finland, Norway and Sweden, a regional association
with particularly close social and cultural links.
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D. Foreign Investment in Iceland

D.1 Exchange Controls

Foreign exchange controls have been fully abolished in
Iceland since 1995, although the Central Bank is authorised to
impose temporary restrictions on capital outflows in the event
of exceptional circumstances. This has never been done, how-
ever.

D.2 Restrictions on Foreign Investment

Non-residents may invest in a business enterprise in Iceland
with some limitations, which are stipulated in the Act on
Investment by Non-Residents in Business Enterprise or in spe-
cific legislation, and upon the fulfilment of other conditions
and acquisition of licences required by law.

Under the European Economic Area Agreement, investment
in Iceland by EEA residents is in principle free, but few excep-
tions were negotiated in specific fields considered to be of
national political importance.

Restrictions on Investment by Non-Residents
(including EEA Residents)

Only the following may conduct fishing operations within the
Icelandic fisheries jurisdiction or own or run enterprises
engaged in fish processing:

* [celandic citizens and other Icelandic entities.

* [celandic legal entities wholly owned by Icelandic entities

or Icelandic legal entities, which are:

* Controlled by Icelandic entities

* Not under more than 25% ownership of foreign entities
(up to 33% in certain circumstances)

* In other respects under the ownership of Icelandic citizens
or Icelandic legal entities controlled by Icelandic entities.

Fish processing means any processing that preserves marine
products from decay including production of fish oil and fish
meal, but does not include further processing designed to ren-
der products more suitable for distribution or consumption.
Canning of seafood, however, is open to foreign investment.
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Restrictions on Investment by Non-EEA
/Non-OECD Residents

Only Icelandic citizens and other Icelandic entities, as well as
individuals and legal entities domiciled in another member
state of the European Economic Area, are permitted to own
energy exploitation rights as regards waterfalls and geothermal
energy for other than domestic use. The same applies to enter-
prises, which produce or distribute energy.

The maximum total shareholding owned by non-residents
(except residents of a country that is a member of the European
Economic Area) in Icelandic airline companies is 49%.

Special permission must be applied for from the Minister of
Commerce in the case of investment in Icelandic enterprises by
foreign states, foreign municipalities or other foreign authori-
ties involved in enterprises.

An individual domiciled within the EEA and/or OECD may
run a business or take part in a business enterprise with unlim-
ited liability in Iceland, while those from outside need to apply
for permission from the Minister of Commerce or another
appropriate authority. Limited liability companies and other
legal entities with domicile outside the EEA and the OECD
may operate in Iceland provided that this is permitted in an
international treaty to which Iceland is a party or if permission
is granted by the Minister of Commerce.

Board membership of Icelandic companies by individuals
resident outside the EEA/OECD is subject to restrictions (res-
idence requirements) but the Ministry of Commerce may grant
exemptions.

Requirements, property purchases, etc.

New foreign enterprises operating in Iceland that set up a
branch or a subsidiary are obliged to register with the Register
of Limited Companies (Hlutafélagskrd), and for others than
residents of the EEA/OECD countries, certain requirements
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are made regarding minimum number of board directors resi-
dent in Iceland (see chapter E.8). EEA residents may stay in
Iceland without special authorization up to six months if they
are looking for work. If they intend to stay in Iceland for a
longer period a resident permit must be applied for. For further
information on visa requirements see the Icelandic Directorate
of Immigration website: www.utl.is

Foreign direct investment in real properties in Iceland is open
to individuals and legal entities that enjoy rights in Iceland
under the Agreement on the European Economic Area regard-
ing free movement of individuals, the right of establishment,
services or movement of capital or corresponding provisions in
the Convention on Eurpoean Free Trade Association. This
applies to the following parties:

1. Employees who are EEA-citizens or EFTA-citizens, and
who work as such in Iceland, or have EEA-residence per-
mit.

2. EEA- and EFTA-citizens who have established them-
selves, or intend to establish themselves, in Iceland in
order to engage in independent business operations.

3. EEA- and EFTA-citizens who are domiciled in another
member state and have established, or intend to establish, a
branch or an agent’s office in Iceland, or who intend to ren-
der services in Iceland.

4. Companies and other legal persons, which are founded in
accordance with the legislation of a member state, and
have established, or intend to establish, a branch or an
agency’s office, or intend to render services in Iceland.
Those companies and legal persons shall either have their
headquarters or principal activity in an EEA- or EFTA-
state or be domiciled there according to the Articles of
Association of the company. In the case of a domicile the
company’s activity must have a real and permanent con-
nection with the economy of the member state concerned.

5. Individuals residing in a state, which is a member of the
EEA or EFTA, and companies or other legal persons,
which are founded in accordance with the legislation of an
EEA- or EFTA-state, may require real property rights in
Iceland on the basis of the rules of free movement of cap-
ital. Those companies and legal persons shall either have
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their headquarters or principal activity in an EEA- or
EFTA-state or be domiciled there according to the Articles
of Association of the companies. In the case of a domicile
the company’s activity must have a real and permanent
connection with the economy of the member state con-
cerned.

The registration of a deed for a real property without special
permission, is dependent on the holder of the right presenting
a special declaration. A sample of such a declaration is to be
found on the website of the Ministry of Justice on:
http://eng.domsmalaraduneyti.is/laws-and-regulations/nr/698

Residents and legal entities domiciled outside EEA or EFTA
are subject to the following restrictions on real property pur-
chases in Iceland:

Private individuals may purchase real property if they are
either Icelandic citizens or have their legal residence in
Iceland. Partners of legal entities or businesses, who have
unlimited liability for the debts of the entity or business con-
cerned, must be Icelandic citizens or individuals domiciled in
Iceland for at least 5 years in order to purchase a real property.
In the case of a limited liability company or an institution, the
company or the institution must be domiciled and have their
venue in Iceland. Furthermore, the members of the board and
directors must be Icelandic citizens or domiciled in Iceland for
at least 5 years. In case of corporations, 4/5 of the share capi-
tal must be owned by Icelandic citizens and Icelandic citizens
must exercise the majority of the votes at shareholder meet-
ings.

However, the Minister of Justice may grant exemptions upon
application to those that are permitted to run a business in
Iceland and the property is to be used as business premises or
a permanent residence. The Minister of Justice may also grant
exemptions if other reasons apply.

Please contact Invest in Iceland for further information.
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D.3 Investment Incentives

Broadly speaking, Iceland does not offer direct subsidies for
business investment. Its prime incentives lie in the favourable
environment for businesses in general, including low corpora-
tion tax, competitive labour costs and payroll costs, and low
energy prices. Industrial sites are available around Iceland at
competitive cost. Local communities may offer certain further
incentives.

However, as a member of the EEA, Iceland has access to EU
research funds for R&D programmes and joint ventures under-
taken with companies from at least one other EEA country.

Grants are issued for specific projects on a case-by-case basis
by bodies including the New Business Venture Fund and
Science Fund.

Starting in 1999, special incentives are granted for film and
TV production in Iceland. The production must be incorporat-
ed in Iceland. An Icelandic branch or a representative office of
a corporation registered in one of the EEA countries is consid-
ered as incorporated for this purposes. There are no require-
ments as to the production budget, but the film must promote
Icelandic culture and introduce the history of Iceland and its
nature. The film and TV production cost rebate rate is
currently 12%.

Furthermore, consultant services are available from the
Invest in Iceland Agency free of charge.

D.4 Importing and Exporting

Restrictions

Standard restrictions apply in Iceland on the import of live
animals, firearms, dangerous substances, pharmaceuticals, etc.
Similarly, special procedures and documentation are required
for exports in these categories.

Excise Duty on Manufactured/Imported Goods

Taxable goods
An excise duty is levied on a variety of goods specified in the
Icelandic Excise Tax Act. They include goods, new and sec-
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ond-hand, which are imported from abroad or manufactured,
processed or packed in Iceland. There is no excise duty on
exports. The settlement period for excise duty is two months.
When returning excise duty to the state treasury for any given
period, the duty paid during the same period on material pur-
chased for the production of taxable products can be deducted.
If the excise duty arising from goods purchased is higher than
that arising from goods sold, the difference is returned. The
same applies to exports. The Excise Tax Act with attendant reg-
ulations authorises the Treasury to exempt certain categories of
local taxable goods from excise duty. In practice, excise duty is
retrievable by producers and should not adversely affect their
operations to any appreciable extent.
Internal Revenue Directorate website: www.rsk.is

Tax base

The excise duty is either a quantity-based or a price-based
charge. The quantity charge is based on each kilogram or litre
of the relevant goods. The price charge is based on the duty-
added import price for imported goods or on the factory price
of goods produced in Iceland. Several rate brackets apply to
each but the system has been greatly simplified in recent years.

Customs Office website: www.tollur.is

Rules of Origin

A product originating outside Iceland can be regarded as hav-
ing Icelandic origin if it fulfils specific criteria for “sufficient
processing” as defined under the “New European Rules of
Origin.” Criteria differ depending upon the type of product and
processing involved. As a rule of thumb, if a product’s last two
digits change in the HS (Statistics Bureau) custom code when
it is processed in Iceland, the product receives Icelandic origin.
This does not mean that all the processing has to take place in
Iceland, only the part of it which changes the digit classifica-
tion, however there are exceptions from this rule.

The Invest in Iceland Agency can provide further information
and assistance for specific cases.

New notions of pan-European culmination and circulation of
products in these rules mean that goods may undergo process-
ing in several countries, which are signatories to the agree-
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ments, without losing preferential status. Up to 10% of ingre-
dients of the product may be originated outside these countries.
A total of 29 European countries (EFTA including Iceland, the
European Union and CEEC (Central and Eastern European
Countries)) are signatories to agreements on pan-European
culmination and circulation.
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E. Establishing a Business in Iceland

E.1 Types of Business Presence in Iceland

The most common and economically important type of busi-
ness in Iceland is the limited liability company (corporation).
Other structures are partnerships, cooperative societies, busi-
nesses run by the self-employed and branches of foreign limit-
ed companies. Iceland has adopted the EU directive No. 2157-
2001 on Societas Europaea (SE) with Act No. 26/2004 on

European Companies (SE).

Limited Liability Companies and Branches of
Foreign Companies

There are two types of limited liability companies in Iceland,
public and private, regulated by two separate Acts. These Acts
are in line with the requirements of the company law provisions
of the EEA agreement. Foreigners investing in Iceland have
customarily chosen to establish limited liability companies or
branches of foreign limited companies (corporations). Publicly
traded enterprises are allowed to issue their share capital in a
foreign currency, and so may other nonpublic companies, if
certain requirements are met. Books and records can also be
kept in a foreign currency. Tax considerations have played a
large role when choosing a type of business entity since the
income tax rate for limited companies and their branches is
now 18%, compared to 26% for partnerships. Furthermore, the

corporate form offers the benefits of limited liability.

Foreign public or private limited companies and companies in
a corresponding legal form having legal domicile within the
European Economic Area may engage in activities with the
operation of a branch in Iceland. Corporate income tax: 18%.

Limited liability companies and companies in a correspon-
ding legal form domiciled outside the European Economic
Area may operate a branch in Iceland, if this is permitted in an
international treaty to which Iceland is a party or by the

Minister of Commerce. Corporate income tax: 18%.
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Limited liability companies and branches are registered with
the Register of Limited Companies (Hlutafélagaskra).

E.2 Establishment Procedures

Non-resident investors can normally choose between the dif-
ferent legal structures outlined from E.3 onwards when estab-
lishing a company in Iceland. Investors are also permitted to
establish an independent company (or a branch of a foreign
incorporated business) or buy stock in Icelandic companies,
except in the fields where certain restrictions apply (see chap-
ter D.2).

The Invest in Iceland Agency provides information about law
firms and accounting firms with experience in assisting in for-
eign investment in Iceland and registration of companies.

Registration Procedures

New public limited companies and private limited companies
must be registered with the Register of Limited Companies.
Before registration, the founders are liable for all commitments
entered into on behalf of the company.

For registration of companies see Internal Revenue
Directorate website: www.rsk.is

Time Required
A completed application to establish a company is generally
handled in one day.

Incorporation Fees

The registration fee is ISK 171,000 (USD 2,709) for a new
public limited company and ISK 88,500 (USD 1,402) for a new
private limited company, including an identity number for the
company.

Number of Founders

A public limited company must have at least two founders.
The majority of the founders shall be resident in Iceland, but
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half of them in case the number of founders is even. The resi-
dence requirement does not apply to citizens of an EEA or
OECD country. A private company may be founded by one or
more persons. At least one of them must reside in Iceland or be
both a citizen and resident of an EEA or OECD country.
Evidence of citizenship and residence must be submitted.

Maximum Number of Shareholders

No limits are set on the number of shareholders.

Initial Capital Requirements

A public limited company must have an initial capital of at
least ISK 4 million (USD 63,361), which has to be paid within
one year of registration, and a private limited company at least
ISK 500,000 (USD 7,920), which has to be paid before regis-
tration.

Articles of Association for Limited Companies

When a limited liability company is established a memoran-
dum of association must be prepared containing a draft of arti-
cles of association, names and addresses of founders, subscrip-
tion price of the shares and deadline for subscription and pay-
ment of subscribed capital. The draft of articles must contain
information including the name and location of the company,
its objectives, share capital, board of directors, legal venue,
auditors and financial year. The articles of association are
adopted by the shareholders at the first general meeting and the
company must be registered with the Register of Limited
Companies within six months of the date of the memorandum
of association in the case of a public limited company or two
months in the case of a private limited company. An unregis-
tered company can neither acquire rights nor assume duties.

Other distinctions between public and private limited compa-
nies are as follows:

E.3 Public Limited Companies

Public limited companies are mainly aimed at seeking capital
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from a wide number of shareholders among the public at large,
for example on the stock market. The minimum stock required
for a public limited company is ISK 4 million (USD 63,361).
Other minimum requirements are that the company has two
founders, two shareholders, at least three directors on the board
of directors, and a manager. The provisions on branches are
similar for both public and private limited companies, except
that disclosure requirements for the Register of Limited
Companies are somewhat stricter with respect to public limit-
ed companies.

Publicly Listed Companies

Publicly traded companies are subject to a number of specif-
ic rules in addition to the Companies Act requirements. These
rules, which are determined by the Ministry of Commerce and
the Board of Iceland Stock Exchange, have become stricter in
recent years. The financial statements must be audited by a
state authorized public accountant or an audit firm. The audit-
ed financial statements and the annual report of a publicly trad-
ed company must be sent to The Financial Supervisory
Authority within three months from the end of the accounting
period.

E.4 Private Limited Companies

Rules for private limited companies are simpler than for the
public ones. The minimum stock required is ISK 500,000
(USD 7,920). Other minimum requirements are to have one
founder, one shareholder, and one director (with one deputy) in
cases where shareholders are four or less. There is no obliga-
tion to have a manager. On their establishment, private limited
companies must state whether they have one or more share-
holders. In one-party private limited companies, meetings of
the board of directors and shareholders are not obligatory.

The Minister of Commerce can grant an exemption from the
otherwise general principle that the majority of the board of
directors and the general manager of a limited liability compa-
ny must be domiciled in Iceland or in a country within the
European Economic Area or OECD.
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E.5 Branches of Foreign Companies

Branches of foreign incorporated businesses with limited lia-
bility are registered with the Register of Limited Companies
and the head office must file the following documents:

* A copy of the articles of association of the head office.

* The incorporation certificate of the head office.

* A letter of representation for the branch manager together
with documentation that the branch manager meets the
requirements as to residency, citizenship and solvency.

* The Financial Statements of the head office for the preced-
ing year.

A registered branch must have a name, which includes the
name of the foreign company.

Note that documentation filed with the Icelandic authorities
must be submitted in certified Icelandic translation.

Registration fee for a branch is ISK 171,000 (USD 2,709).

E.6 Partnerships

A partnership is an association of two or more persons,
including individuals, corporations or other legal entities, that
operate a business as co-owners for profit. Many professions
operate as partnerships.

No specific legislation governs the operation of a partnership,
but relations between the partners usually require the prepara-
tion of a formal set of agreements (bylaws). Minimum
accounting requirements are set out in the Accounting Act.

Partnerships, which are registered as taxable entities for tax
purposes are taxed with 26% on their profits. However, dis-
tribution of after-tax profits of a partnership is not taxable,
whereas after-tax profits of a limited company is taxed at a
10% rate when distributed to individuals or partnership share-
holders. Partnerships, which divide their income and assets to
the respective partners, are taxable on the same basis as their
partners.

Under Icelandic law, partners in a partnership have full and
unlimited liability in solidum (“one for all and all for one™),
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which generally means that this is not an attractive choice of
form for a foreign investor.

Limited partnerships (samlagsfélog) can be founded and reg-
istered in Iceland. There must be at least two members where
at least one member of the partnership is unlimited liable of the
partnership’s liabilities. Other members may limit their liabil-
ity to their share contribution. The same registration process
and expenses as for partnerships apply to limited partnerships.

Registration fee for a partnership, which is also registered
with the Register of Limited Companies, is ISK 61,000 (USD
966).

E.7 Sole Proprietorships/Self-Employed

Sole proprietorships are mainly confined to self-employed
(sole practitioners) in Iceland and the form is rare for large
enterprises. Sole proprietors are taxed on business income
(36.72%) and any other additional income.

E.8 Residence Requirements for Board
of Directors and Management

A public limited company must have a board of directors con-
sisting of at least three persons, and must appoint at least one
managing director. The managing director(s) and at least half
of the members of the board must reside in Iceland or be resi-
dents and citizens of any other EEA or OECD country. An
exemption may be granted by the Minister of Commerce.

The general rule is that a private limited company shall have
three persons on its board of directors. If the company has four
shareholders or fewer, one or two persons may serve as mem-
bers of the board. One or more managing directors may be
appointed by the board, and if there is only one person on the
board of directors he may also serve as managing director. The
managing director(s) and at least half of the members of the
board must reside in Iceland or be residents and citizens of any
other EEA or OECD country. An exemption may be granted
by the Minister of Commerce. If there is only one person on the
board of directors, he must fulfil the residence qualification.
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E.9 Annual Requirements for Corporations

Income Tax Filing

Corporations and registered branches of non-resident entities
must file an annual income tax return by the end of May, irre-
spective of whether or not they have any taxable income.

Audit Requirements

Every limited liability company in Iceland is required to
appoint one state authorized public accountant, an audit firm or
two auditors. (For further details see H.1)

E. 10 Mergers and Acquisitions

The Icelandic Competition Authority (Samkeppniseftirlitid)
is entitled to take action including the imposition of limiting
conditions if a company, which is created by a merger is likely
to acquire a dominant market position. Planned or possible
mergers may be referred to the Authority for consideration, and
it can do so on its own initiative. An appeal against the
Authority’s ruling may be lodged with its appeals board. Laws
on competition are implemented by the Minister of Commerce.

A shareholder owning more than nine-tenths of stock in a
company and controlling the same proportion of votes may
jointly decide with the board of directors to redeem the hold-
ings of other shareholders.

If one shareholder owns more than nine-tenths of stock in a
company and controls the same proportion of votes, any of the
other minority shareholders may insist on their shares being
redeemed.

If a company’s articles of association do not stipulate how to
determine the buying price of shares and no agreement can be
reached, the shares are valued by specialists appointed by a
lower court.

Only stock-for-stock mergers are tax-free under Icelandic tax
law. The use of operating loss carry-forwards is only allowed if
the merger is made for a legitimate business purpose.
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Provisions concerning takeover bids

If a holding in a company, which has publicly listed one or
more classes of its shares on a stock exchange has been taken
over, directly or indirectly, all the shareholders in the company
shall be given the opportunity, within four weeks from the take-
over, of relinquishing their holdings on comparable terms to a
party who:

a) has acquired 40% of the voting rights in the company ;

b) has acquired the right to appoint or remove a majority of

members of the company’s Board of Directors;

¢) has, on the basis of an agreement with other shareholders,

the right to control 40% of votes in the company.

The Financial Supervisory Authority may grant an exemption
from this requirement under certain circumstances.

E. 11 Iceland Stock Exchange

The Iceland Stock Exchange (ICEX) operates the only regu-
lated market for listed securities in Iceland. It offers shares,
ETFs, bonds and money market instruments including govern-
ment-guaranteed bonds and shares, which cover all the major
sectors in Iceland. As a member of the NOREX Alliance, ICEX
is part of a common and fully integrated marketplace for secu-
rities trading across the Nordic region. ICEX has been a lead-
ing force in expanding and developing the Icelandic securities
market. ICEX is an affiliate member of the World Federation
of Exchanges and participates in international co-operation
within the Federation of European Securities Exchanges
(FESE) and the NOREX Alliance. The regulatory framework is
in line with other European markets.

Access to a single Nordic Market

NOREX is the strategic co-operation of the exchanges in
Oslo, Reykjavik and the OMX Exchanges (which operate the
stock exchanges in Stockholm, Helsinki, Copenhagen, Riga,
Tallinn and Vilnius). The NOREX Alliance is unique by being
the first stock exchange alliance to implement a joint system
for equity trading and harmonise rules and requirements
between the exchanges with respect to trading and member-
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ship. Member firms are encouraged to join all the NOREX
exchanges by removing entry fees, harmonising membership
criteria, simplifying joint applications etc. For further informa-
tion visit the NOREX website www.norex.dk.

Regulatory Framework

The legal framework controlling activities of Icelandic finan-
cial enterprises is based on European Union (EU) Directives.
Icelandic legislation in this field has undergone extensive revi-
sion in recent years to bring it into line with legislation of other
member states of the European Economic Area (EEA). In the
next few years, changes in this legislation are expected, which
will affect the operating environment of issuers, ICEX mem-
bers and regulated OTC markets. A bill transposing EU direc-
tives on market abuse, takeovers and prospectuses was submit-
ted to the Icelandic parliament, Althingi, in 2005 and is now
Act on Competition No. 44/2005.

Raising Capital by Listing on ICEX

Both domestic and foreign companies can benefit from list-
ing on ICEX. They can gain better access to risk capital.
Listing also encourages more effective price formation of
shares and generally improves their liquidity, gives the compa-
ny a higher profile and subjects it to market discipline through
the on-going disclosure requirements involved.

ICEX listing requirements are based on those stipulated in
various EU Directives. Both the listing requirements and list-
ing application procedure are described in the Rules for Issuers
published by ICEX. While listing requirements vary depending
upon the markets and types of securities, in all instances a list-
ing prospectus must be made available, describing the securi-
ties involved and their issuer. Stock exchange legislation makes
a distinction between official listing on a stock exchange and
listing on a regulated OTC market, which is not regarded as an
official listing.
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Listing of Securities

Official listing on ICEX

Equities listed on the ICEX Main List are officially listed, i.e.
their listing fulfils the harmonised minimum requirements of
the EU Directives which apply in the EEA for official listing of
securities on a stock exchange. The estimated market value of
a share class, for which listing on the ICEX Main List is
sought, must be at least ISK 600 million (USD 9,504,000).

Other securities listed on ICEX markets include various types
of bonds, unit share certificates of mutual funds and invest-
ment funds, and shares in investment funds. The estimated
market value of a bond class or fund division, for which listing
is sought, must be at least ISK 100 million (USD 1,584,033).

Listing on the ICEX Alternative Market

The ICEX Alternative Market is a registered OTC market as
defined by the stock exchange legislation, operating under a
special licence from the Ministry of Commerce. Equities listed
on the Alternative Market do not meet the minimum listing
requirements of legislation in the EEA for listing on a stock
exchange. The Alternative Market is an ideal forum for equities
issuers who wish to ensure a secondary market for their share-
holders, but do not satisfy the requirements for listing on the
ICEX regular list or feel the time is not right for listing on
ICEX. There are no limits on investments by pension funds and
mutual funds in securities listed on the Alternative Market
apart from those which apply to ICEX markets in general.
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PRINCIPAL REQUIREMENTS FOR LISTING SHARES
OFFICIAL EXCHANGE LISTING ON A REGULATED
LISTING OTC MARKET
MAIN LIST ICEX ALTERNATIVE MARKET
Financial 3 years 2 years
statements
Minimum market Market value Shares issued in the
capitalisation ISK 600 million amount of ISK 25 million
Holdings by At least 300 general At least 25 general
general investors investors hold a minimum  investors own shares with
of 25% of shares and a market value of at least
voting rights ISK 100,000 each

Listing Procedure

The listing prospectus is subject to approval by ICEX. A
prospectus must contain all the information necessary for
investors to form an opinion of the issuer, its securities and
their value. Prospectuses play an important role in ensuring
transparency on a regulated securities market, since they serve
as the basis for investors’ assessment of issuers and their secu-
rities. Therefore it is important that all information relevant for
such an assessment be included in the prospectus. ICEX may
reject an application for listing if it deems it will not serve the
interest of the public or the securities market.

A company considering listing may, without any obligation,
request a meeting with the ICEX staff for a briefing on the
requirements and obligations involved in ICEX listing.

Disclosure requirements

The listing of securities entails on-going disclosure require-
ments for the issuer. Issuers must always make every effort to
make public any information they feel could have significant
impact on price formation of the securities. A foreign issuer
may disclose all information only in English.

Clearing and Settlement

The Icelandic Securities Depository (ISD) operates a central
registry and depository for dematerialised securities, and
effects transfer of title to them. Trades in dematerialised secu-
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rities executed on ICEX are cleared and settled through the
ISD. Only settlement banks can participate in the netting
process for securities trading. The settlement cycle is T+1, i.e.
all trades are settled and title transferred before opening on the
following trading day.
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F. Labour Force and Employee Benefits

F.1 Labour Supply and Relations

Of Iceland’s population of 299,404 on December 1, 2005, the
labour force totalled 165,900. The total participation rate was
81.7% in October-Desember 2005: 85.5% among males and
77.9% among females. Unemployment has been averaging 1.5-
3% in the recent term.

Employee and Employer Organisations

The Icelandic labour market is highly unionised with more
than 85% of employees belonging to unions. The major labour
organisation is the Icelandic Federation of Labour (ASI),
founded in 1916, which is the largest organisation of trade
unions in Iceland. Most of the unions affiliated to the AST are
organised into 6 national federations. In all, there are 82 unions
affiliated to ASI federations and 5 unions belonging directly to
it. Total membership of these 82 unions and branches was
88,905 at the end of 2005.

Public employees are organised into various unions, which in
turn belong to the Federation of State and Municipal
Employees (BSRB) or Association of Academics (BHM),
which also organizes some employees of private companies, or
to separate unions for professions such as teaching.

The Merchant Navy and Fishing Vessel Officers’ Guild is a
federation of several unions, most of them representing sea-
men, although many members of the Association of Icelandic
Engineers are land-based.

Employees in banks are all members of the Union of
Icelandic Bank Employees (SiB).

Private non-banking sector employers are organized into The
Confederation of Icelandic Employers (Samtok atvinnulifsins,
SA). SA tasks include negotiation of contracts with unions on
wages and working conditions, and the interpretation and com-
munication of decisions by governmental authorities that
directly affect the financial performance of businesses at both
domestic and international level. SA includes about 2,000
corporations and businesses and the organization accounts for
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approximately 55,100 salary-paid employees.

The State is by far the largest employer in Iceland. Many of
the local authorities — Reykjavik being an important exception
— conduct their wage bargaining through a joint negotiation
committee, and so do the banks.

Labour Relations

Icelandic labour unions are decentralised and non-political.
For many years some of them have broadly supported wage
restraint under tripartite agreements with employers and the
government.

Contractual wage agreements cover general terms of employ-
ment, including a basic minimum wage, but specific terms are
usually negotiated on a more job-specific basis. Collective bar-
gaining power, in both the public and the private sectors, rests
with individual labour unions. Many rights are handled by the
central federations (ASI, BSRB and BHM). Some companies
in Iceland have also introduced workplace pay agreements.

In recent negotiations growing emphasis has been put on edu-
cation and training for employees with the establishment of
mutual educational funds and institutions.

The Industrial Relations Act specifies the conditions for law-
ful industrial action. A strike (or other permitted form of indus-
trial action) may be called on condition that at least 20% of the
trade union members vote secretly and that the majority
accepts the strike. Formal announcement of the industrial
action must be sent to a mediator and the employer with 7 days’
notice. Industrial action is not allowed over disputes under the
jurisdiction of the Labour Court. Furthermore, the Act pro-
hibits solidarity strikes in support of unions on illegal strikes,
and bans political strikes outright.

Wages

An important characteristic of the Icelandic economy is its
large degree of labour market flexibility. According to the
OECD, real wage flexibility is greater in Iceland than in any
other member country. There are various reasons, including the
structure of labour market organisation, the strength of which
has been felt in particular during recessions when wage settle-
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ments have invariably been of tripartite character, with a strong
contribution by the government.

By international comparison, wages and wage cost in Iceland
are very competitive relative to most Western countries. In
manufacturing, they are less than half those in Germany, for
example. Indirect wage cost is relatively low in Iceland at 35-
40% (including vacation and sickness provisions, payroll taxes
and contribution to a pension fund).

Iceland’s highly competitive hourly wages but high per capi-
ta income are to a large extent explained by the high level of
labour force participation and the widely accepted practice of
working long hours.

Employment contracts

In accordance with EU regulations a written contract of
employment is required by for any employee engaged for a
term longer than one month. The contract must be available no
later than two months after the employee was recruited.
Iceland has no statutory minimum wage, but contracts must
never offer poorer terms than those stipulated in contractual
union pay agreements in the relevant profession. A trial period
from one up to three months is common, but in higher-level
jobs up to six months.

Private employers in Iceland have greater flexibility to termi-
nate employment than in most other European countries. In
general, any employee’s service may be terminated provided
mandatory notice is given, and the employer may prevent him
from working the notice period, which generally ranges three
months. No specific reason needs to be given for termination
of employment. However, there are some exceptions: shop
stewards, employees’ with special family responsibilities (due
to sick or disabled family members), pregnant women and par-
ents on maternity/paternity leave enjoy special protection
against dismissal. Discrimination on grounds of sex is forbid-
den and special rules cover transfer of undertakings and col-
lective redundancies. Usually there is no severance pay beyond
that for the notice period.
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Working Hours

The basic legal working week is 40 hours over 5 days, but
some professions have 37.5 — 39.5 hours per week, mainly
office clerks and sales assistances. Overtime, however, is com-
mon in the labour market. Most employees are paid for over-
time, or alternatively allowed time off in lieu.

Typical shift-work rates are an extra 33% on top of the day-
time rate, and an extra 45% for weekend or public holiday
work. This rate may be 80%, if the relevant pay agreement or
a contract of employment does not include rates on shift-work
or on overtime work.

A continuous rest period of 11 hours is typically guaranteed
during each 24-hour period. In certain circumstances the rest
period may be shortened to 8 hours.

Workplace Regulation

Conditions vary from company to company, but according to
the Act on Facilities, Hygiene and Safety at Work, every work-
place must have a safety convenor or safety committee, in
accordance with the size of the firm.

F.2 Social Security and Payroll Taxes

Social Security

Social security contributions are partly paid with the income
tax paid by the employee and partly with the social security
charge paid by the employer.

In structure, the health care system in Iceland is comparable
to those of the other Nordic countries and is largely run by the
state and local governments. All residents are covered by a
public health insurance system, which provides for free hospi-
tal care and other types of health care at a low cost to the
patient.

Access to the health care system is based on domicile in
Iceland. An individual moving to Iceland from another country
gains full access after being domiciled for a full 6 months.
Faster access is granted to individuals who move from a Nordic
or EEA country and provide the social security authorities with
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the relevant documentation.

Payroll Taxes/Social Security Contributions

All employers are liable to payroll tax (social security fee) on
paid wages and other remuneration. This tax also applies to the
calculated earnings of self-employed individuals. A single rate
applies and is 5.79% in 2006.

An extra 0.65% insurance contribution is paid on the wages
of seamen and added to the 5.79% rate.

Revenue from the social security contribution is divided
among an Unemployment Insurance Fund, the Occupational
Safety, the Maternity/Paternity Leave Fund, and Health
Administration and the Social Security Bureau.

F.3 Employee Benefits

Vacations

The minimum vacation period is 24 working days, i.e. 4
weeks + 4 days. The right to vacation allowance depends upon
the wage-earner’s length of service during the immediately pre-
ceding 12 months and is calculated as two paid vacation days
per month of work during the immediately preceding vacation
year, which extends from May 1 to April 30.

Public holidays are generally 11 days a year and arrange-
ments for overtime payments for them are specified in individ-
ual union agreements.

Unemployment Benefits

Unemployment benefits, which are not related to the previous
salary, are paid from a separate fund, the Unemployment
Insurance Fund, which is managed by the Social Security
Administration.

Its revenues come from a 0.65% component of the payroll tax
on all wages and salaries.

Benefits payable to unemployed individuals amount to ISK
93,701 (USD 1,484) a month plus ISK 173 (USD 2.74) per day
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for each child younger than 18 years. Benefits are not wealth-
related.

Sickness Pay

Employees are entitled to wages for a certain period during
sickness or after an accident at work. The minimum rights dur-
ing the first year of service with an employer are 2 days in
respect of each month. After one year of employment an
employee is entitled to total wages for 1 month out of every 12
months, after three years with the same employer 1 month of
total wages and 1 month with day wages out of every 12
months, and finally after five years with the same employer 1
month of total wages and 2 months with day wages out of every
12 months. An employee who is absent from work for a longer
period is entitled to payment from the union sickness fund.
Contractual wage agreements may provide better rights.

Accident Pay

All employees who are excused from work on account of
accident at work, on direct route to or from work or due to
occupational diseases caused by it shall receive payment of
wages for daytime work for up to 3 months in accordance with
the tariff under which the party concerned received wages, pro-
vided that the work be with a party engaging in business oper-
ations in the trade concerned.

All permanently engaged employees who have been engaged
in service with the same employer continuously for one year
shall, when they are excused from work on account of diseases
or accidents, not forfeit any of their wages for one month in
whatever form these may be paid.

In case such employees have been engaged with the same
employer continuously for three years they shall, in addition to
that which is stated in paragraph 1, retain their daytime wages
for one month, but two months after five years of continuous
engagement with the same employer.

In addition to the rights enjoyed by permanently engaged
employees in accordance with paragraphs. 1 and 2 they shall,
when their absence is caused by an accident at work or an occu-
pational disease, retain their daytime wages for up to three
months as stated in paragraph 1.
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Maternity and Paternity Leave

A new Act on Maternity/Paternity Leave and Parental Leave
entered into force on January Ist, 2001. Parents have each an
independent right to maternity/paternity leave of up to three
months due to a birth, primary adoption or permanent foster
care of a child. This right is not assignable. In addition, parents
have a joint right to three additional months, which may either
be taken entirely by one of the parents or else divided between
them. The right to maternity/paternity leave lapses when the
child reaches the age of 18 months. The right to
maternity/paternity leave is established upon the birth of a
child. However, a woman is permitted to start her maternity
leave up to one month prior to the expected birth date, which is
confirmed by a medical certificate.

All parents, who do not enjoy full contractual salary rights
from their employers are paid by the Maternity/Paternity Leave
Fund after they have been active in the domestic labour market
for six consecutive months prior to the first day of the mater-
nity/paternity leave. A parent’s working time in other EEA
countries is taken into account if the parent has been employed
in Iceland for at least one month during the six months prior to
the first day of the maternity leave (date of birth in case of
paternity leave). The Maternity/Paternity Leave Fund’s month-
ly payment to an employee on leave in 2006 amounts to 80%
of her/his average wages during 2004 and 2005. Maximum
payment is ISK 504,000 (USD 7,984) per month. The monthly
payment to a self-employed parent amounts to 80% of the cal-
culated remuneration on which an insurance levy has been paid
for the same period. However, the monthly payment during
maternity/paternity leave to a parent in a 25-49% part-time job
shall never be less than ISK 70,543 (USD 1,117), and the
monthly payment to a parent holding a 50-100% job shall
never be less than ISK 97,769 (USD 1,549). Parents employed
by the State and local authorities are also paid by the
Maternity/Paternity Leave Fund. They also enjoy payments
from a special fund to meet the difference between their full
contractual salary rights and the 80% payment from the
Maternity/Paternity Leave Fund.

Parents not active in the domestic labour market or in a less
than 25% part-time job are entitled to a payment to the amount
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of ISK 42,662 (USD 676) per month and full-time students are
entitled to a payment to the amount of ISK 95.441 (USD
1,512) per month from the social security system.

Old-Age Pensions

The general retirement age is 67-70. Iceland’s pension system
rests on three pillars: the pension paid by the social security
system, occupational pension funds and private pension plans.
While not a part of the social security system proper, occupa-
tional pension funds have been compulsory for wage-earners
as well as the self-employed since 1972. In many ways, social
security pensions take account of those paid by the pension
funds, so the three systems are closely interlinked. The month-
ly state old-age pension is ISK 22,873 (USD 362). The pension
is reduced if a person’s income in a year is in excess of ISK
1,894,254 (USD 30,006). In addition to this pension, support
may be obtained for general costs of living, but is income-relat-
ed.

State pensions are financed through taxes, while all wage-
earners and self-employed are also obliged to contribute to an
occupation-related pension fund. Wage-earners must pay 4%
of pre-tax earnings to the pension fund, matched by a 6% con-
tribution from the employer (11.5% from the State). According
to latest wage agreements negotiated by The Icelandic
Federation of Labour and the Confederation of Icelandic
Employers, employers must contribute 7% to the relevant pen-
sion fund.

The 4% contribution to a pension fund by an employee is
deductible from tax. An additional deduction up to 4% is
deductible from taxable income if the employee chooses to pay
it either into an occupation-related pension fund or private pen-
sion plan provided that the contribution is paid regularly. Most
pay agreements on the labour market require employers to pay
extra 2% to a pension fund, if the employee chooses to pay
additional 2-4% contribution.

The old-age pension is fully subject to income tax, which is
deducted when it is paid out.
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G. Taxation

G.1 Principal Taxes

Introduction

Indirect taxes are the main taxation form in Iceland, account-
ing for around 52.6% of the total tax burden in 2004. The total
tax burden as a percentage of GDP was 41.1% in 2004, and is
estimated to be 39.7% in 2005 and 38.8% in 2006. Compared
to tax systems of other countries the Icelandic tax system is rel-
atively simple and effective. In the last few years the emphasis
has been to simplify it further, reduce tax rates, broaden the tax
base and conclude more double taxation conventions, which
will increase competitiveness of Icelandic corporations and
attract foreign investors. Corporate income is 18% which is
one of the lowest tax rates within the OECD member countries.

Direct Taxes

The principal direct taxes are individual income tax (the reg-
ular rate being 36.72% in 2006 after deduction of personal
allowance) and corporate income tax (18%). Individual income
tax is divided between a national tax of 23.75% for the income
year 2006 and municipal income tax at an average rate of
12.97%. Capital gains are taxed according to special rules for
financial income for individuals, but treated as ordinary
income for companies. Inheritance tax is also levied.

Indirect Taxes

The principal indirect taxes are value-added tax — levied at a
standard rate of 24.5% but with a 14% category for food, news-
papers and certain other items — and various excise duties,
including car tax.

Other Taxes

Industrial Fee

This is assessed on all industrial activities carried on by indi-
viduals, corporations and other taxable entities. The rate is
0.08% on all operating income.
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Property Fee

Land and property fee at nominal rates is paid to the munici-
pal authorities; rates vary between municipalities and also with
regard to use. The principal fees and rates are those on proper-
ty, use of cold water, waste disposal and other such basic serv-
ices provided by the municipalities.

Capital Taxes (Net Worth Taxes)

From December 31st 2005 no capital taxes are levied on net
capital in Iceland, neither for individuals nor businesses.

G.2 Administration of Taxes

Sources of Tax Law

Taxation is governed by tax laws enacted by Parliament.
Court decisions, rulings by the tax authorities and guidelines
issued by the tax authorities are integral parts of the interpreta-
tion of these laws.

Iceland has valid tax treaties with 27 countries as of January,
2006. (see chapter G.3). In practice these treaties are consid-
ered to be integral parts of tax law.

The central tax authorities publish important tax rulings and
results of appeals in anonymous form.

Guidelines are sent free of charge to taxpayers each year with
their tax returns.

Filing

Tax returns must be filed with the local tax authority in the
year following the year of income. There are different dead-
lines for legal entities and individuals depending on whether
the tax return is filed on the Internet or filed the conventional
way on paper. Individuals, whether or not self-employed must
file by around March 21th . The deadline may be extended on
application if filed on the Internet. Companies and branches
must file by the end of May. Accountants and audit firms usu-
ally obtain longer extensions.

Doing Business in Iceland 57



Business entities are required to file information with the tax
authorities. This information, which includes details of salaries
paid and withholding tax deducted at source on wages, must be
reported to the tax authorities no later than January 26th
(February 6th if filed on the Internet) of the following calendar
year.

Tax Administration

Tax is assessed on the basis of income during the previous
year. Income tax is calculated and levied by the tax authorities
on August 1 in the year following the income year.

Tax Audits

Tax audits are carried out by local tax authorities, which may
request additional information and documentation.

Assessment and Appeal

Taxpayers are sent an assessment and calculation of their tax
for the previous year on August 1.

For individuals any difference between the official tax assess-
ment and tax paid in advance is refunded in August of the year
following the year of income, increased by 2.5% of the differ-
ence. Outstanding tax is payable in five equal instalments from
August to December, increased by 2.5%.

An appeal may be lodged against an assessment within 30
days from its announcement. Further recourse for appeal is
available through a National Tax Board (Yfirskattanefnd) and,
ultimately, the courts. Complaints may also be lodged with the
Office of the Althing Ombudsman about decisions, procedures
and conduct exercised by the tax authorities.

In general, the authorities and the courts issue decisions on
treatment of tax accounting entries after they have been made.
However, under new legislation taxpayers may apply for an
advance ruling concerning the tax consequences of actions
being contemplated. Such advance rulings are binding on the
tax authorities, but taxpayers that disagree with rulings may
appeal against them.

Penalties
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If tax due is not paid on time, penalty interest is levied on the
outstanding amount.

Failure to file a tax return on time results in an estimated
assessment made by the tax authorities. When the tax return is
filed it is considered to be an appeal to the tax authorities. If
the taxpayer has a substantiated reason to have filed too late
and has a track record of having returned his previous tax
returns on time, the tax authorities levy tax according to it
without any consequences to the taxpayer. If not, the tax
authorities levy the tax according to the tax return with a penal-

ty.
G.3 Liability for Tax

Residents and Non-Residents

Individuals are deemed to be residents of Iceland for tax pur-
poses if they reside in the country and are registered in the
national registry of persons or remain in the country for a peri-
od of six months or more out of a 12-month period.

Taxation of Residents

Resident individuals are subject to Icelandic tax on their
worldwide income. Capital taxes were abolished on December
31st, 2005, on individuals and business entities.

Resident corporations are subject to Icelandic corporate
income tax on their worldwide profits.

Taxation of Non-Residents

Non-resident persons are subject to tax on income from
Icelandic sources, including but not limited to salaries, wages
and pensions paid from Icelandic sources, income derived from
business carried out in Iceland and from real property, shares
and other financial income. However, interest income of non-
residents in Iceland is not taxable.

According to domestic rules, non-resident individuals staying
in Iceland for longer than 183 days out of a 12-month period
are subject to tax on their worldwide income. Individuals who
are in Iceland for a temporary stay, i.e., less than 183 days, are
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taxed on Icelandic-source income.
Tax rates are the same as for resident individuals, with a stan-
dard deduction granted for the period stayed in the country.
Exemptions from the above rules may be provided for in dou-
ble taxation treaties.

Non-Resident Companies

Non-resident companies and other entities are subject to tax
on their income from Icelandic sources at the normal rate, after
consideration of relief if available under double taxation
treaties. They are taxed in conformity with the rules applicable
to companies domiciled in Iceland on income derived from
business activities or participation in business activities with a
permanent establishment in Iceland.

Withholding Taxes for Non-Residents

Withholding tax rates on payments to non-residents are 15%
on dividends paid to companies and 10% on dividends paid to
individuals, 18% on royalty payments to companies and
23.75% national tax on royalty payments to individuals. In
addition, municipal income tax is levied on royalties paid to
non-resident individuals at the average rate for the income year
2006 of 12.97%. No annual personal deduction is granted.
There is no withholding tax in Iceland on interest payments to
non-residents. In cases where such a tax is withheld, for exam-
ple by banks, a non-resident can apply to the Internal Revenue
Directorate for a refund.

Double Taxation Treaties

The rates of withholding tax in the chart below apply to div-
idends, royalties and interest paid to a recipient resident in a
country with which Iceland has a tax treaty in force. Upon
application, there is no withholding tax on interest paid to non-
residents.
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Country Dividends Royalties Interest
Individuals,  Qualifying
companies companies
(%) (%) (%) (%)
Belgium 15° St 0 0°
Canada 15 5! 0%/10 0°
China 15 53 10 0°
Czech Republic 15° 5 10 0
Denmark* 15 0' 0 0
Estonia 15° 5 5°/10 0°
Faroe Islands* 15° 0! 0 0
Finland* 15 0' 0 0
France 15° S 0 0
Gemany 15° 5 0 0
Greenland 15° 5 15 0
Ireland 15° 5! 0%/10 0°
Latvia 15° 5 5%/10 0°
Lithuania 15 5 5°/10 0°
Luxembourg 15° 5 0 0
The Netherlands 15° 0! 0 0
Norway* 15° 0! 0 0
Poland 15° 53 10 0°
Portugal 15° 10° 10 0°
Russia 15 5 0 0
The Slovak Republic 10’ 5 10 0
Spain 15° 5 5 0’
Sweden* 15 0' 0 0
Switzerland 15° 5 0 0
United Kingdom 15° St 0 0
United States 15 5! 0 0
Vietnam 15° 10° 10 0°
Non treaty countries 10/15° 15 18/26/36.72° 0
Notes:
1. This rate applies to corporate shareholders with a minimum
ownership of 10%.

2. The zero rate applies to copyright royalties (except films,
etc.), and to royalties for computer software or patent, or for
information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific
experience (except information provided in connection with
a rental or franchise agreement).

3. This rate applies to corporate shareholders with a minimum
ownership of 25%.

4. The Nordic Convention.
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5. The 5% rate applies to royalties paid for the use of industri-
al, commercial or scientific equipment.

6. According to Icelandic tax legislation interest paid to non-
residents is not taxed. However, according to the Double
Taxation Conventions concluded between Iceland and
Belgium, Iceland and Canada, Iceland and China, Iceland
and Estonia, Iceland and Latvia, Iceland and Lithuania,
Iceland and Poland, Iceland and Portugal and Iceland and
Vietnam, the source state has the right to levy a 10% tax on
interest.

7. According to Icelandic tax legislation interest paid to non-
residents is not taxed. However, according to the Double
Taxation Conventions concluded between Iceland and Spain
the source state has the right to levy a 5% tax on interest.

8. The 18% rate applies to corporations, the 26% rate applies
to partnerships registered as taxable entities and the 36.72%
rate applies to individuals.

9. According to the Icelandic tax legislation dividends paid by
resident companies to resident and non-resident individual
shareholders are subject to a final 10% withholding tax.

Iceland has concluded tax treaties with Italy, Malta and
Hungary, which are pending ratification. Tax treaties with
Austria, Greece, Croatia, Mexico, South-Korea and Ukraine
are finalized and are pending signature. Negotiations on tax
treaties with Slovenia, India and Romania have started and the
tax treaty with Romania is expected to be finalized in 2006.

See www.invest.is for latest information.

G.4 Resident Corporations

Administration of Corporate Tax

Tax Periods

The calendar year is mandatory for all taxpayers, but on
application, a corporate taxpayer may be granted a different
fiscal year if this can be justified on special grounds.

Determination of Taxable Income
Taxable profits are based on the financial accounts of com-
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panies, after the adjustments required by tax law.

Pre-Payment of Taxes

All taxes are paid in the assessment year, which is the year
after the year of operations. Taxes are due in ten payments on
the first day of each month except January and July.

Until the tax has been calculated, which is usually no later
than July 31 each year, a corporation must pay a proportion of
the amount of income tax it paid during the previous year. The
proportion for 2005 (assessment year 2006) will be 8.5%.

Consolidation of Income

Each entity is taxed separately. However, tax consolidation of
a parent with a subsidiary can be applied for, if one company
owns at least 90% in another company, and this will be binding
for the following five years. Consolidation means, inter alia,
that losses of one company can be set off against profits of the
other companies. Such an application shall be made in writing
and sent to the relevant tax commissioner. Consolidation may
not be extended to non-resident companies.

Tax Rate

Limited liability companies pay 18% income tax.

Registered partnerships for tax purposes with unlimited lia-
bility pay 26% income tax.

Individuals with business income pay 23.75% but since the
regular tax credit is applicable, the effective rate is lower.

Municipal Income Taxes

Municipal income tax is only levied on the income of indi-
viduals. No personal tax credit is deducted when this tax is
assessed, unless the personal tax credit exceeds the taxpayer’s
computed national income tax. The rate may range from
11.24% to 13.03%; the average is 12.97% for the income year
2006.

Capital Gains Taxes

Capital gains are added to other taxable income and taxed at
the regular corporate rate.
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Interest Income

Interest income is treated as ordinary income and included in
taxable income of companies.

Dividends

When a resident company receives dividends from shares it
owns in another company, the dividends are not taxed in the
hands of the recipient company. There are no requirements
relating to percentage of stock ownership in the corporate
payer. However, a 10% withholding tax is withheld at source
for dividend payments both to individuals and corporations,
and as regards corporations it is considered a prepayment for
regular income tax payable after assessment.

An individual shareholder who is resident in Iceland and
receives dividends pays 10% withholding tax, which is with-
held at source by the company paying out the dividends.

The tax liability of a non-resident shareholder depends on
whether he is treaty-protected or not; 27 tax treaties are appli-
cable (see G.3, Double Taxation Treaties). In the absence of tax
treaties, the domestic tax rules apply.

Shares

Capital gains on disposals of shares are considered taxable
income, but effective from 1998 businesses are able to defer
capital gains from the sale of shares by purchasing others.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are fully deductible in the year in which
they are incurred. In general, allowable expenses are those
incurred for the purpose of earning income, including salaries
and all other staff expenses, rent, advertising expenses and
maintenance. Most current expenses are deductible as operat-
ing expenses.

Research and development costs, including market research
costs, may be deducted in full in the year they are incurred, or
depreciated over a five-year period. The same applies to
lawyers’ and accountants’ fees incurred in establishing or
expanding an enterprise.
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Depreciation and Depletion

Annual depreciation is calculated as a percentage of the
acquisition cost.

Allowances for buildings and other structures are defined by
the tax legislation, for example office buildings 1-3%, indus-
trial plants 3-6%, storage tanks 3-6%, quays 6-8%, and bore-
holes and electric transmission lines 7.5-10%.

DEPRECIATION RATES

ANNUAL PERCENTAGE
MINIMUM MAXIMUM

Ships and aircraft 10.0% 20.0%
Industrial machinery and equipment 10.0% 30.0%
Office equipment 20.0% 35.0%
Machinery and equipment for building and

construction, automobiles and other

transport conveyances, and other

movable property not included above 20.0% 35.0%
Buildings as defined by the Income Tax Act 1.0% 6.0%
Purchased Intangibles 15.0% 20.0%
Purchased goodwill 10.0% 20.0%

Interest Expenses

In general, interest paid is deductible, whether due to foreign
or resident creditors.

Loss Carryovers

Operating loss carry-forwards may be carried forward to the
succeeding ten years. Carry-backs are not permitted.

Transfer pricing

According to a general provision of Icelandic tax law, if
financial transactions take place between taxpayers under
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terms that differ substantially from those generally applicable
to such transactions, any financial benefit or advantage which
would, in the absence of such terms, have accrued to one of the
parties, but did not accrue to that party by reason of such terms,
may be added to that party’s taxable income. Tax authorities
may also determine a reasonable purchase or sales price if
property is bought at an abnormally high price or sold at an
abnormally low price. This also applies to possible adjustments
of taxable profits where an Icelandic business entity controlled
by a foreign enterprise is subject to trade terms different from
those which would apply between independent business enti-
ties.

The tax authorities may reassess such transactions at fair
market value.

Controlled Foreign Corporations

There is no CFC legislation in Iceland. Accordingly,
Icelandic resident corporations and individuals that own stock
in a foreign personal holding company must not include in
gross income their pro rata share of the company’s undistrib-
uted income.

Thin Capitalization
Icelandic tax law does not include specific rules concerning

thin capitalization of corporations.

G.5 Taxation of Foreign-Source Income

Foreign Subsidiaries

Dividends received by an Icelandic company from another
company (Icelandic or overseas) are not subject to tax, if the
company paying out the dividends is subject to similar taxation
in its home country and the income tax rate applicable to the
profits of the foreign company is not lower than the income tax
rate of any member country of the OECD. No credit is granted
for underlying company tax paid in an overseas entity.

Branches

Because Icelandic resident companies are taxable on their
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worldwide income, profits and losses derived from their for-
eign branches are included in their taxable income. However,
treaty relief or credit relief under Icelandic tax law may be
available.

Foreign Tax Credit and Exemption

Icelandic tax law provides for unilateral relief for foreign
taxes paid, but such relief may not exceed the part of the total
Icelandic liability that relates to the foreign income. No other
limitations apply and the foreign tax credit must not be calcu-
lated separately for each type of foreign-source income since
Iceland does not apply the “basket” system (the United States
system).

Alternatively, taxpayers may claim relief under applicable tax
treaties. Relief may be in the form of an exemption or credit,
depending on the particular treaty.

G.6 Non-Resident Companies

Non-resident companies are subject to Icelandic income tax
on Icelandic dividends, royalties and profits from Icelandic
permanent establishments (branches), and from real estate
unless they are treaty-protected. Dividends paid to non-resi-
dent companies are subject to a withholding tax of 15% and
royalties 18%. Profits from branches are subject to corporate
income tax at the rate of 18%. No withholding tax or “branch
profits tax” is imposed on the remittance of profits by an
Icelandic branch of a foreign corporation. Branch profits can
be repatriated with no tax consequences.

Branches

Branches of foreign companies are taxed on income derived
from their activities in Iceland. Tax is calculated at the regular
corporate tax rate of 18%.

Branches must file tax returns providing information con-
cerning their taxable income and expenses as well as their cap-
ital and debts.

For tax purposes, Icelandic branches of foreign companies
are generally treated like Icelandic incorporated companies
except that they are only taxed for Icelandic-sourced income
and not worldwide income as Icelandic companies are. A
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branch can deduct against its taxable income in Iceland a part
of the overhead costs of the non-resident company.

Portfolio Income

Non-residents are subject to Icelandic withholding tax on
Icelandic dividends (15% for companies, 10% for individuals)
and royalties (18% for companies and 36.72% for individuals),
but under most tax treaties this rate is lower and gives a credit
against taxes in the resident country.

Icelandic interest payments to a non-resident are not subject
to any withholding tax or other Icelandic tax liability.

Capital Gains

According to domestic income tax legislation, capital gains
on disposals of the assets of an Icelandic permanent establish-
ment are taxable in Iceland. Capital gains derived by non-resi-
dents from disposals of Icelandic shares or bonds are also sub-
ject to Icelandic income tax. This also applies to real estate
located in Iceland.

G.7 Partnerships

There are two kinds of partnerships for tax purposes:
Partnerships, which are registered as taxable entities for tax
purposes and pay 26% income tax, and “flow-through” part-
nerships, where profits and losses are allocated to the partners
in proportion to their shares in the enterprise, and the partners
are subject to corporate or individual income tax on such allo-
cations.

G.8 Taxation of Individuals

Taxable Income

Taxable income is divided into ordinary income and capital
income, and different rates apply. A standard tax credit is used
against ordinary and capital income, and the employee’s 4-8%
pension fund contribution is deductible. Other tax benefits are
in the form of compensation for interest incurred on loans
taken to purchase a residence for private use, and child support,
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both of which are income-related. However, a part of child
support paid for children under the age of 7 is not income-
related.

Seamen enjoy a special tax credit of ISK 787 (USD 12.5) per
day.

Deductions are permitted against an individual’s business
income.

Personal income includes wages and salaries, allowances
received, fringe benefits and net business profits. Fringe bene-
fits are generally included in taxable income at market value,
while private use of a company car and company-provided
accommodation is assessed and taxed according to standard
values compiled by the tax authorities.

A standard deduction is granted against per diem allowances
for business travel.

Capital income includes interest income, rental income, cap-
ital gains and dividends.

Dividend and interest income received from companies resi-
dent in Iceland is subject to a 10% withholding tax.

Non-residents are not subject to taxation on interest and can
obtain confirmation from the tax authorities that they are not
tax residents in Iceland, and will thus be exempted from the
withholding tax on interest income.

Residents of countries with double taxation treaties with
Iceland can obtain the same type of confirmation in order to
avoid the withholding tax for their dividend income.

Tax Period

The tax period for individuals is the calendar year.

Income Tax on Individuals

The national income tax rate for 2006 is 23.75% and the
municipal income tax rate may vary from 11.24% to 13.03%
between municipalities, the average rate in 2006 being 12.97%,
which makes a total rate of 36.72%. Income tax is paid as the
income is earned and is withheld at source by the employer. A
monthly tax deduction of ISK 29,029 (USD 460) is available,
meaning that income up to ISK 79,055 (USD 1,252) per month
is tax-free.

A charge of ISK 6,075 (USD 96) is levied on individuals 16-
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69 years old, who have income above ISK 948,660 (USD
15,027) for Construction Fund for the Elderly.
Please see www.invest.is for latest updates.

Capital Income Tax

Capital income earned by individuals, such as interest, divi-
dends, rental income and capital gains, is subject to a with-
holding tax at a flat rate of 10%.

Capital gains are not taxed on the sale of residential housing
if owned and used by the owners for more than 2 years.

It should be noted that individuals are granted tax benefits in
the form of compensation for interest incurred on loans taken
to purchase a residence for personal use, and child allowance.
However, these benefits are income- and net worth-related.

Business Income of an Individual

Business income is taxed as ordinary income of the business
owner. Expenses are deductible to the extent required to obtain,
secure and maintain business income.

Personal Deductions and Allowances

The following personal deductions are provided:

* Premiums paid to approved pension schemes may be
deducted from personal income, providing tax relief of 4-
8% of an individual’s income. For non-residents, the qualifi-
cation for deductions is to pay either to a pension scheme
operating according to an Act passed in Iceland or to a pen-
sion fund officially approved by the Icelandic Ministry of
Finance;

* A standard tax credit of ISK 348,343 (USD 5,518) from the
calculated income tax figure for the year. Furthermore, up
to 100% of a spouse’s tax credit may be transferred to the
other spouse if not fully used; and

* A tax credit for registered seamen of an extra ISK 787
(USD 12.5) per day.
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Expatriates

No special provisions for expatriates apply under Icelandic
tax law.

G.9 Estate and Gift Taxes

THE DONEE IS TAXED FOR GIFTS ON THE SAME BASIS AS
ORDINARY INCOME. INHERITANCES ARE TAXED AS FOLL-

OWS:

Relationship to descendent Rate
Spouses 0%
All other heirs 5%

However, the first ISK 1.000.000 (USD 15,840) are tax-free.

G.10 Capital Tax (Net Worth Tax)

From December 31st 2005 no capital taxes are levied on net
capital in Iceland, neither for individuals nor businesses.

G.11 Indirect Taxes

Value-Added Tax

A 24.5% value-added tax is levied on any sale of goods,
power or services with various exceptions. Among the exempt-
ed categories are the following:

* All export sales.

* Public health-care services.

* Schools and other educational institutions.

* Domestic and international passenger transportation and

cargo transport between Iceland and foreign countries.

* Postal services.

* House rentals and sales and rentals of trade aircraft and ves-

sels.

* Insurance services.

» Banking and the operation of other financial institutions
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and sales of bonds.

* Services to foreign entities if the services are rendered out-
side Iceland, or if the operations of the non-resident compa-
ny would be liable for VAT under the Icelandic VAT Act.

A 14% value-added tax is levied on the sale of the following
goods and services:

* Hotels and other accommodation.

* Licences for television and radio stations.

* Sales of books.

* Hot water, electricity and fuel oil used for domestic and

commercial heating.
* Road tolls.

All corporations, individuals and state and municipal entities
that sell or grant any kind of taxable goods or services in
Iceland are assessable for VAT.

The regular VAT assessment period is two months, and the
tax is due within 35 days from the end of each period.

VAT must be paid along with customs duties when goods are
imported.

Foreign enterprises must be registered through an Icelandic-
resident representative that is jointly responsible for collection
and payment of VAT. The threshold for compulsory VAT regis-
tration is a turnover of ISK 220,000 ex-VAT (USD 3.485) per
year.

Consolidated registration for VAT is available for corpora-
tions under 90% common control.

Social Security Fees and Payroll Tax

The employer pays a social security fee that is assessed on all
salaries and wages on a monthly basis. It is also calculated on
taxable fringe benefits in kind such as a company car and hous-
ing. This tax includes a contribution to the Icelandic National
Insurance scheme as well as a contribution to the
Unemployment Insurance Fund and the Maternity/Paternity
Leave Fund. One flat rate is in operation for the tax year 2006
and is 5,79%. An extra 0.65% insurance contribution is paid on
wages of seamen and added to the applicable rate.
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Excise Duty

Excise duties are levied on goods, new and second-hand,
which are imported from abroad or manufactured, processed or
packed in Iceland. There is no excise duty on exports.

Stamp Duty

STAMP DUTIES ARE LEVIED ON THE FOLLOWING DOCU-
MENTS:

Document Rate in %
Deeds for real estate, vessels etc. 0.4
Loan documents, bonds, etc. 1.5
Issued shares for public limited companies 0.5
Bills of exchange 0.25
Formation fund of a limited partnership 0.5
Formation fund of a partnership 2.0

Stamp duties are generally not levied on loans from non-
residents.

G.12 Local Taxes

Property Tax (Property Fee)

Land and property tax at nominal rates is paid to the munici-
pal authorities; the rates vary between municipalities and also
in regard to use. The principal fees are those on property, use
of cold water, waste disposal and other such basic services pro-
vided by the municipalities.

Pollution Tax

No special taxes are levied on production or consumption of
pollutants in Iceland, although charges are made for recycling
of certain types of waste at public collection stations.
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H. Financial Reporting and Auditing

H.1 Statutory Requirements

Required Books and Records

Under general Icelandic legislation on business and com-
merce, an enterprise must keep books of accounts and records
that reflect its rights and obligations in Icelandic currency. The
text of the books must be in Icelandic, Danish or English.
However, business enterprises registered in Iceland, with the
main part of their income from foreign sources, can apply to
keep their books of accounts and records in a foreign currency

by meeting one or more of the following requirements:

* Enterprises whose main activities are abroad or which form

part of a foreign corporate group;

* Enterprises, which own foreign subsidiaries or stock or a
part in foreign enterprises and whose main business is with

these subsidiaries and foreign enterprises;

* Enterprises whose main activities are in Iceland but conduct
a considerable part of their business in another currency

than the Icelandic currency;

* Enterprises, which have the majority of their investments

and related debts in foreign currencies.

The relevant currency must be registered with the Central
Bank of Iceland or with the commercial bank of the respective

business enterprise.

Annual accounts should be prepared for most entities and
consolidated groups and filed for official purposes within eight
months from the end of the year accounted for. The books of
accounts and records, including source documents and incom-
ing and outgoing correspondence, should be retained in
Iceland for at least seven years and annual accounts for twen-
ty-five years. However, the documents may be retained at a for-
eign permanent establishment for up to six months and must be
available to Icelandic authorities upon request. The books may
be kept in any form, including mechanised and electronic sys-
tems, and all methods of tracing transactions between accounts

and documentation should be retained.
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Share capital

Publicly traded companies are allowed to issue their share
capital in a foreign currency. Other limited liability companies
with the main part of their income from foreign sources will be
able to issue their share capital in a foreign currency on meet-
ing certain requirements. Permission to issue the share capital
in a foreign currency and keep books and records in a foreign
currency will be handled by the Register of Annual Accounts,
which is hosted within the Internal Revenue Directorate.

Entities Required to Be Audited

The audit requirements are set out in the Annual Accounts
Act. Entities subject to the Annual Accounts Act must appoint
at least one state authorised public accountant, an audit firm or
two accountants. Entities, which meet all the following condi-
tions do not have to meet the audit requirements except those
included in the requirements of other laws regarding points
such as travelling, insurance, pension, finance, etc.:

* Staff members are less than 50.

* Annual turnover is less than 240 million ISK (USD

3,801,679).
* Equity capital is less than 120 million ISK (USD
1,900,840).

Banks, securities companies, insurance companies, pension
funds, travel agencies and entities listed on the Iceland Stock
Exchange have mandatory audit requirements.

From January 1st, 2005, publicly traded Icelandic consolidat-
ed companies must prepare their financial statements in accor-
dance with international accounting standards. This is in line
with the EU directive No. 1606-2002.

H.2 Sources of Accounting Principles

Accounting principles in Iceland are set out by legal and pro-
fessional frameworks. Corporate law, and legislation on annu-
al accounts and on banks and finance, insurance and pension
funds, etc., include mandatory provisions on the accounting
framework. The Icelandic Association of State Authorised
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Public Accountants (Félag 16ggiltra endurskodenda, FLE) also
provides guidelines for and opinions on accounting principles,
and since 1992 standards have been set by The Accounting
Standards Board (Reikningsskilarad) a body set up for this pur-
pose by law. Tax legislation also plays a considerable role in
forming accounting principles, although mainly for smaller
businesses. FLE is a member of the International Accounting
Standards Board, IASB, which publishes and distributes its
standards to members as a source of technical and guiding
information.

In 1994, Icelandic legislation on financial statements and
consolidated financial statements was brought broadly into line
with EU directives on preparation and presentation of annual
accounts for companies.

H.3 Accounting Principles and Practices

Valuation Principles

In general, financial statements are prepared on principles,
which include the concepts of going concern, consistency, pru-
dence, accruals and prohibition of the inclusion of net
amounts. Provided that notes are fully disclosed, it is permissi-
ble to deviate from these principles if applying them would
lead to unfair presentation of the financial statements.

The cost principle is a fundamental accounting principle in
Iceland. Due to high inflation rates in the seventies and eight-
ies, inflation methods of accounting used to be applied when
preparing the financial statements and for tax purposes. Profit
or loss resulting from these inflation calculations was present-
ed in the income statement at average price level for each
accounting year and in the balance sheet at year-end price
level. Inflation accounting for tax purposes was abolished with
the Government tax reforms from December 2001.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are normally stated at histori-
cal cost, less depreciation, which is calculated from the amount
on the basis of the estimated useful economic life of the asset.
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Estimated salvage value is not generally taken into account.
During a period of capitalization, interest is normally not part
of the cost value.

Leases

Under generally accepted accounting practice, financial leas-
es are those under which the leasee acquires all the substantial
rights and obligations of an owner. All other leases are consid-
ered operational leases. The accounting treatment for the two
types of lease differs and the FLE guidelines recommend that
financial lease is shown as an asset and a liability, while oper-
ating lease is treated as a current contracted charge supple-
mented by disclosure of the commitment over the term of the
lease. In fact, these guidelines are in close harmony with TASB
standard No. 17, “Accounting for Leases.”

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are normally accounted for
when incurred. However, they may be capitalized insofar as
they represent a material investment of permanent value. As a
rule, capitalized research and development cost should be
depreciated over a period of no more than five years unless this
would result in unfair presentation of the financial statements.
In such cases it should be depreciated over a period not exceed-
ing the useful life of the asset, with full note disclosure to
explain why the depreciation period has been extended.

Goodwill

No legal requirements apply to capitalization of goodwill.
According to professional guidelines and generally accepted
accounting principles, goodwill is only reflected in the finan-
cial statements if acquired and paid for. Capitalized goodwill is
depreciated over a maximum period of five years or alterna-
tively written off immediately. Should goodwill, for any partic-
ular reason, be depreciated over a period exceeding five years,
full note disclosure must be made.

Marketable Securities

When held as current assets, marketable securities are stated
in the balance sheet at cost, net realisable value or any other
appropriate lower value. Publicly listed securities are normally
restated to reflect their market value. Such an increase or
decrease in value is reflected in the income statement.
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Long-term monetary assets, such as notes and bonds, are also
accounted for at cost, net realisable value or any other appro-
priate lower value and, if publicly listed, they can be shown at
market value. If the market value is shown, it should be stated
in the notes accompanying the financial statements.

Long-term shares in public and private companies are nor-
mally stated in the balance sheet at net realisable value or any
other appropriate lower. Any increase in the value of a publicly
listed share from revalued cost to its market value, as permit-
ted under the Annual Accounts Act, is transferred to a separat-
ed equity account. A decrease in the value of shares is reflect-
ed as loss in the income statement.

Iceland has adopted the EU-directive No. 65-2001 regarding
marketable securities being valued on fair value if certain
requirements are met.

Inventories

Inventories should be stated at the lower of cost or net realis-
able value. Both the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method and the
weighted average method of determining inventory cost are
acceptable. Production overhead cost is accepted as a part of
the production cost value.

Income Taxes

The minimum requirement under generally accepted
accounting principles is to provide only for current income
taxes payable and give a full note disclosure of the deferred tax
liability. However, reporting entities now tend to recognise
deferred income taxes in full in their financial statements using
the liability method of accounting.

Pension Cost

Unfunded pension obligations are very rare, since virtually
all pension arrangements are on the basis of contracts with
institutions for this purpose, which are governed by separate
legislation. However, entities may have additional obligations
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towards their management through pay contracts and these
should be accounted for and shown in the financial statements.

Equity Accounting
Investments in subsidiaries and associates may be shown
either at cost of acquisition or at net asset value by the equity
method. A subsidiary is defined as a company in which a par-
ent company:
* Directly or indirectly owns a majority of the voting shares.
* Can exercise control as a result of significant contracts or
business arrangements.
* [s able to influence the financial and operating policies of
the entity invested in, directly or together with another sub-
sidiary.

The reporting entity should use the same valuation principles
to determine net asset value that it uses for its own assets, pro-
visions and debts.

The equity accounting method is not allowed for investments
in other companies that do not meet the criteria of a subsidiary
or an associate. The minimum voting power to meet the defi-
nition of an associate is 20%.

Foreign Currency Translation

There is no official definition in law of the accounting prin-
ciples to be used for foreign currency translation. The most
common method for translating a foreign enterprise’s financial
statements into local currency is a legacy from the inflationary
era of the eighties, and involves using the average exchange
rate for the year for the statements of profit and loss and cash
flow, and the closing exchange rate for the year for the balance
sheet translation.

The IASB standard for accounting for changes in foreign

exchange is commonly used as a guideline in cases where the
above method is not adopted.
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Legal reserves

In general, the equity in a limited liability company consists
of the share capital, appropriated non-distributable reserves
and inappropriate earnings. Icelandic law recognises the fol-
lowing types of legal non-distributable reserves:

* Share premium reserve.

* Income related reserve.

* Other reserves.

H.4 Financial Reporting

Form and Content of Financial Statements

Annual financial reports must include a report by the board
of directors, the auditor’s report, an income statement, a bal-
ance sheet, a cash flow statement or a statement showing appli-
cation of funds, and explanatory notes.

A parent company must prepare and present consolidated
financial statements, which meet similar requirements to those
governing ordinary financial statements.

Act No. 144/1994 and regulation No. 694/1996 on annual
accounts specify the form, layout and content of financial
statements. The regulation permits few alternatives for the lay-
out of the balance sheet and income statement; the guiding
principle is consistency, with appropriate disclosure of a
change and its effect on the financial statements. Comparative
figures must be included in the balance sheet, the income state-
ment and the cash flow statement.

Annual accounts must be presented fairly and information
must be added if the presentation would be made unfair by
omitting it. If compliance with strict legal requirements would
limit fair presentation, then a deviation from the law must be
made. Any such deviations must be disclosed in the accompa-
nying notes and show the effect on assets and liabilities, the
financial position and results for the period in question. The
formal statement of annual accounts must be expressed in
Icelandic kronur. However, corporations can apply to keep
their books of accounts and records and express their statement
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of annual accounts in a foreign currency (see H.1). The text of
the statement of annual accounts must be in Icelandic, Danish
or English.

Types of Statements Prepared

In general, the same requirements apply to the information to
be included in the annual accounts of all entities obliged to fol-
low the instructions laid down under Act No. 144/1994.
However, an entity, which is not registered on the Stock
Exchange and is under certain size limits may file abbreviated
statements at the Register of Enterprises, consisting of an
abridged income statement, a balance sheet and abridged
explanatory notes. To qualify for this, the company must fulfil
at least two of the three conditions listed below:

* Total assets amount to ISK 230 million (USD 3,643,276) or

less.

* Operating income amounts to ISK 460 million (USD

7,286,552) or less.
* Total man-years within each fiscal year are 50 or less.

A parent company may be exempt from preparing consoli-
dated financial statements if its shares, or the shares of its sub-
sidiaries, are not listed on a stock market within the EEA and
certain requirements are met.

Report and Endorsement by the
Board of Directors (and Managing Director)

The following information is demanded by law to be includ-
ed in the report or endorsements given by the board of direc-
tors of a company:

» Every important issue that might affect the financial posi-
tion of the company and is not included in the income state-
ment, balance sheet or accompanying notes.

* Proposed appropriation of the result for the year, if this is
not disclosed in the accounts themselves.

» [f the company is registered on the Stock Exchange and has
issued a business plan for the year, the operating result
should be compared to that plan and major variances
explained.
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* The number of shareholders at the beginning and the end of
the year, and names of single holders of 10% or more of the
shares. Numbers of partners or associates should also be
stated if the entity is not a corporation.

* Important post-balance sheet events.

* Financial prospects for the future.

* Research and development activities.

* Branches in other countries.

Notes

The following are the most important disclosures to be made
in explanatory notes to the financial statements of any type of
company:

* The accounting principles applied in the preparation of the
financial statements.

* Increase or decrease in fixed assets, methods and amounts
of depreciation. Insurance value, official real estate evalua-
tion or other important values of all major assets should be
stated.

» Names of subsidiaries and associates, the proportion of
shares held, and the amounts of investments and operating
results, which are included in the accounts.

» Names, investments, financial position and other important
issues of entities outside the category of limited liability
companies.

* Investments with priority features should be explained.

* Details of loans secured by the issue of convertible securi-
ties, bonds or other securities. The same applies if interest
rates are abnormal, for example when linked to operating
results, etc.

* Annual installments of long-term debt, which are due over
the following five years.

» The amount and extent of any pledges and securities.

* Material guarantees and commitments.

* Details of loans to, or securities and guarantees given on
behalf of, members of the board, directors and shareholders
of the company or its parent company.

* Details of insurance value or other official appraisals of
fixed assets.
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* Net sales analysed by activity and geographical area unless
disclosure is considered to be seriously prejudicial to the
company’s interests or of little value to interest groups.

* Details of taxes accounted for or paid within the underlying
year, tax deferments if not accounted for, and tax effects
resulting from irregular items in the income statement.

* The average number of employees, and employee costs
divided into main categories. Salaries and bonuses paid to
members of the board of directors must also be disclosed.

* Number and amount of a company’s own shares and details
of how they have changed within the year.

Procedures for Preparation and Filing of Reports

The financial statements should be presented with the audit
report at the annual general meeting, which normally is held
within three to five months after the balance sheet date and no
later than eight months after that date according to corporate
law requirements. A certified copy of the annual accounts,
including reports signed by the board of directors and the audi-
tor, must be submitted to the Register of Limited Companies
within one month after its approval or no later than eight
months after the balance sheet date. Audited financial state-
ments and the annual report of a publicly traded company must
be sent to The Financial Supervisory Authority within three
months from the end of the accounting period and a copy of the
annual accounts must be submitted to the Register of Annual
Accounts (Arsreikningaskrd) immediately after its approval
and no later than six months after the balance sheet date.
Financial statements are available to the public at the Register
of Annual Accounts.

H.5 Auditors’ Responsibilities and Audit Requirements

The financial statements of Icelandic companies exceeding
the size limits stated under section H.l are audited to meet
statutory requirements. Audits, assessments or reviews may
also be required for other specific situations such as a merger,
acquisitions or granting of credit.

Appointment and Qualifications of Auditors

One or more auditors, or an audit firm, are appointed at the
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annual general meeting. At least one of the auditors appointed
shall have a permanent address in Iceland or be a resident of an
EEA country. The auditor must be independent of the compa-
ny’s board of directors and management and may be appointed
for a specified period of time, one year or more.

In cases where no auditor has been appointed, or the appoint-
ed auditor does not fulfil the requirements laid down by law or
by the articles of association, the Register of Limited
Companies appoints an auditor if a request to this effect is
made by a board member, chief executive officer or a share-
holder.

The Ministry of Finance is responsible for authorising per-
sons who may act as auditors. Their professional title is State
Authorised Public Accountant (16ggiltur endurskodandi). In
certain cases the ministry may grant permission for a foreign
certified public accountant to undertake audits to the same
degree as an Icelandic auditor.

Auditing and Reporting Responsibilities

The board of directors must ensure that the company main-
tains proper accounting records and that the annual accounts
give an adequate representation of the assets and liabilities,
financial position, profit or loss for the accounting period, and
application of funds (cash flow). In the obligatory report pref-
acing the financial statements, the auditor must state whether,
in his or her opinion, this obligation has been fulfilled.

The auditor’s report must contain an opinion as to whether the
financial statements provide a true and fair view of the compa-
ny’s affairs and results, and whether the statements have been
prepared properly in accordance with the law and the compa-
ny’s articles of association. Additional information must be
included in the report if the auditor considers that it is essential
for a full understanding of the financial statements and that
omitting it would result in an unfair presentation of them.

Other financial information such as highlights or compar-
isons with past performance may be included in the financial
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statements; if so, it shall be stated in the auditor’s report as
well. The report by the board of directors must be consistent
with the financial statements and, unless specifically stating
otherwise, the auditor’s report must implicitly confirm that the
directors’ report contains the legally mandatory information
and is consistent with the accounts.

The auditor’s report forms an integral part of the financial
statements and must be filed with them in all cases. If the audi-
tor has made any qualifications to his or her report, or has been
unable to form an opinion, this should be clearly stated.

H.6 Accounting Profession

Iceland’s accounting profession operates within a legal
framework and only State Authorised Public Accountants may
give an opinion on published financial statements of compa-
nies that exceed the size limits stated in H.1 above, on finan-
cial statements of companies quoted on the Stock Exchange,
and on other financial statements that are legally obliged to be
audited. Opinions on financial statements of other small enti-
ties may be given by persons who meet certain requirements
concerning business knowledge.

To be licensed as a State Authorised Public Accountant, an
individual must have finished four years study of audits,
accounting, tax and business administration at the University
of Iceland, have three years’ relevant work experience, and
have passed a national examination conducted by the
University, the Ministry of Finance and the Icelandic profes-
sional body (FLE).

The Icelandic Association of State Authorised Public
Accountants (FLE) is the only professional body of auditors in
the country and is responsible for professional ethics and issu-
ing of auditing guidelines.

A large number of accounting firms operate in Iceland, and
most of the major international accounting firms are represent-
ed by offices there.

Other related professional services include engineering con-
sulting firms, which work in connection with international cor-
porations involved in projects in Iceland, and law firms with
international contacts.
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Appendices

Appendix 1: General Information

Entry Visas, Residence Permits and Work Permits

Nationals of the other European Economic Area states
(European Union and EFTA) do not need entry visas to visit
Iceland. Furthermore, special agreements with about 100
countries — including all OECD countries — permit their resi-
dents to enter without visas, provided they have a valid pass-
port. Iceland adopted the Schengen Convention on March
25th, 2001.

Entry visas are typically granted for a three-month stay in
Iceland.

Citizens from outside the EEA require a work permit to work
or operate a business in Iceland. Approval by the local labour
union is often required under employment contracts for various
unskilled jobs.

Time and Dates

Iceland is on Greenwich Mean Time all year round, and does
not introduce summer time. During the course of an 8 hour
working day the working hours of an office in Icelandic over-
lap with general working hours all over Europe and the
Americas. From mid-May to mid-August the sun only sets for
around 3 hours a day, and it is effectively light for the whole
24-hour period. In midwinter, there are around 5 hours of
effective daylight.

Time differences between Iceland and major world cities:

At 12 noon in Iceland the time is:

City Summer  Winter
Chicago 07.00 06.00
Copenhagen 14.00 13.00
London 13.00 12.00

Los Angeles 05.00 04.00
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City Summer  Winter

New York 08.00 07.00
Sdo Paulo 09.00  10.00*
Sydney 2200  23.00%
Tokyo 21.00  21.00%

*Daylight savings time on the southern hemisphere
during winter in Iceland

Business Hours

Standard office hours are from 9.00 a.m. to 5.00 a.m. Many
public offices are open from 8.00 a.m. to 4.00 p.m. in summer.
Banks are open from 9.15 a.m. to 4.00 p.m., Monday to Friday.
Some banks may have extended opening hours on Thursdays
and Saturdays. Shop opening hours vary considerably, but are
often from 9-10.00 a.m. to 6-7.00 p.m. and sometimes longer,
especially in the bigger shopping malls. Many food shops are
open until 11 p.m.

Public Holidays
Iceland has the following statutory public holidays:

New Year’s Day

Maundy Thursday

Good Friday

Easter Sunday

Easter Monday

Ascension Day

Labour Day (May 1)

Whit Sunday

Whit Monday

National Seamen’s Day (first Sunday in June)
National Day (June 17)

Bank Holiday (Monday after first weekend in August)
Christmas Eve (half)

Christmas Day

Boxing Day

New Year’s Eve (half)

Three of these public holidays are Sundays. When other holi-
days fall on a weekend, no day in lieu is given on a weekday.
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Transportation and Communications

International

Iceland maintains highly efficient and regular air and sea
links with both Europe and North America. Icelandair offers
passenger and cargo services to and from more than twenty
gateways year-round on either side of the Atlantic, and several
other international carriers operate a number of services for at
least part of the year. Three Icelandic shipping lines operate
regular cargo schedules serving ports in North America,
Scandinavia, the UK, continental Europe and the Baltic, and
have highly developed international freight forwarding sys-
tems. Furthermore, these lines operate bulk charter transporta-
tion for specific imports and exports, for example industrial
raw materials and finished products. Iceland’s harbours are ice-
free all year.

Flight duration is 2.5-5 hours to Europe and 5-6 hours to the
United States (East Coast) and Canada. Shipping: Europe 3-4
days, the United States 7-8 days.

Domestic

A 1,400 km Ring Road links virtually all major towns around
Iceland. Extensive land transport services link towns and har-
bours.

Regular flights operate from Reykjavik Airport to major
towns in all parts of the country, in many cases several times a
day.

Good natural harbours are available for development at sites
in many parts of the country which have been earmarked for
industrial development.

Telecommunications

The Icelandic infrastructure for telecommunications net-
works and services is highly advanced, and unique for such a
small nation. The system ranks among the most sophisticated
anywhere, and is the world’s first fully digitalized telephone
system, according to Iceland Telecom. Mobile phone penetra-
tion in Iceland is among the highest in the world, as well as
Internet penetration — over 85% of Iceland’s population has
access to the Internet, either at home or work, if not both.
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Iceland is linked with Europe and North America via Cantat
- 3 fibre-optic submarine cable, connecting to Europe and
North America, has a capacity of 5 Gb/sec in both directions,
with an extra 2.5 Gb/sec to spare. Farice Ltd., a company
owned by the Icelandic State and private telecommunications
companies in Iceland and the Faroe Islands, operates a new
fibre-optic submarine system between Iceland and Scotland. It
is a 1,400-km-long, state-of-the-art, submarine, fibre-optic
system, accounted among the world’s most technologically
advanced. This system is based on DWDM (Dense Wavelength
Division Multiplexing) submarine optical-transmission tech-
nology. It interconnects the Icelandic, Faroese and Scottish
telecommunications networks, supporting the growth of
Internet-based services and data networking in Iceland. The
system has an ultimate transmission capacity of 720 Gb/sec,
equivalent to more than 10 million simultaneous phone calls,
and the standard equipped capacity is 20 Gb/sec, upgradeable
in accordance with future traffic requirements. With the Farice
cable in place, Iceland offers highly reliable telecommunica-
tions connections to other countries.

Other connections with the world as a whole are via satellite
systems: Intelsat, Eutelsat, Iridium, Inmarsat and New Skies
Satellites.

Other

Education

Education in Iceland is free and compulsory for ten grades
from the age of six. The secondary level takes the form of
advanced general education or vocational training at a variety
of specialised colleges. Tertiary education, free of charge after
a small registration fee has been paid, is offered at several uni-
versities, the best-known of which are the University of Iceland
and Reykjavik University, both in the capital, the University of
Akureyri in north Iceland and the Bifrdst School of Business.

Iceland has one of the highest levels of literacy in the world
and very large participation in secondary and tertiary educa-
tion, making for a highly skilled workforce. Many Icelanders
have studied abroad in specialised fields.
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Medical Services

Health care in Iceland is available to everyone who has been
a registered resident for more than six months. Residents of the
Nordic countries and EEA have a faster access to the health
care system if relevant documentations (mainly E-104) are sub-
mitted. It is subsidised, so that only basic service charges are
made.

Leisure and Tourism

Iceland has a very active and flourishing cultural, entertain-
ment and leisure scene with a strong international flavour,
especially in Reykjavik. Sightseeing of unique natural phe-
nomena and outdoor activities, such as hiking, riding and river-
rafting, are the main attraction outside the city. Details of activ-
ities and sightseeing can be obtained from the Icelandic Tourist
Board, tourist information centres and a number of local publi-
cations, several of which are produced in English.

Social and Business Customs

Broadly speaking, social and business etiquette in Iceland is
the same as elsewhere in the Western world, and people in gen-
eral are well informed about international developments. Since
Icelandic society is small and close-knit, access to key people
is easy and often informal.

90 Doing Business in Iceland



Appendix 2: Useful Addresses and Telephone Numbers

All Icelandic telephone numbers are 7-digit, with no
regional codes. The international code for Iceland is 354.

Invest in Iceland Agency — Investments

(Fjarfestingarstofan)

Tel.: 561 5200
e-mail: info@invest.is

Trade Council of Iceland
(Utflutningsrad Islands)
Tel.: 511 4000

e-mail: icetrade@icetrade.is

Euro Info Centre

(Information Centre of the EU)
Tel.: 511 4000

e-mail: euroinfo@icetrade.is

Icelandic Tourist Board
(Ferdamalarad Islands)
Tel.: 535 5500

e-mail: info@icetourist.is

Iceland Stock Exchange
(Kaupholl Islands)

Tel.: 525 2800

e-mail: icex@icex.is

The Central Bank of Iceland
(Sedlabanki Islands)
Tel.: 569 9600

e-mail: sedlabanki@sedlabanki.is

Website: www.sedlabanki.is

Borgarttn 35

105 Reykjavik

Fax:561 5205

Website: www.invest.is

Borgarttn 35

105 Reykjavik

Fax: 511 4040

Website: www.icetrade.is

Borgarttn 35

105 Reykjavik

Fax: 511 4040

Website: www.icetrade.is

Gimli, Lekjargata 3

101 Reykjavik

Fax: 535 5501

Website: www.icetourist.is

Laugavegur 182

105 Reykjavik

Fax: 525 2888
Website: www.icex.is

Kalkofnsvegur 1

150 Reykjavik
Fax: 569 9605
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Iceland Chamber of Commerce

(House of Commerce),
(Vidskiptarad Islands)

Tel.: 510 7100

e-mail: mottaka@chamber.is

Internal Revenue Directorate
(Rikisskattstjori)

Tel.: 563 1100

e-mail: rsk@rsk.is

Statistics Iceland
(Hagstofa Islands)
Tel.: 528 1000

e-mail: information@statice.is

Federation of Icelandic Industries

(Samtdk idnadarins)
Tel.: 591 0100
e-mail: mottaka@si.is

Directorate of Customs
(Tollstjéraembeetti)

Tel.: 560 0300

e-mail: tollstjori@tollur.is

Research Council
(Rannsoknamidstod fslands)
Tel.: 515 5800

e-mail: rannis@rannis.is

New Business Venture Fund
(Nyskdpunarsjodur)

Tel.: 510 1800

e-mail: nsa@nsa.is

Regional Development Institute

(Byggdastofnun)
Tel.: 455 5400

Hus verslunarinnar

7th floor, Kringlan 7

103 Reykjavik

Fax: 568 6564

Website: www.chamber.is

Laugavegur 166
150 Reykjavik

Fax: 562 4440
Website: www.rsk.is

Borgartin 21 a
150 Reykjavik
Fax: 528 1099
Website: www.statice.is

Borgarttn 35

105 Reykjavik
Fax: 591 0101
Website: www.si.is

Tollhusid, Tryggvagata 19
101 Reykjavik

Fax: 562 5826

Website: www.tollur.is

Laugavegur 13
101 Reykjavik
Fax: 552 9814
Website: www.rannis.is

Borgarttn 35

105 Reykjavik

Fax: 510 1809
Website:www. nsa.is

Artorg 1
550 Saudarkrokur
Fax: 455 5499

e-mail: byggdastofnun@byggdastofnun.is

Website: www.byggdastofnun.is
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Confederation of
Icelandic Employers
(Samtdk atvinnulifsins)
Tel.: 591 0000

e-mail: sa@sa.is

Federation of Icelandic Labour
(Alpydusamband Islands)

Tel.: 535 5600

e-mail: asi@asi.is

The Icelandic Patent Office
(Einkaleyfastofan)

Tel.: 580 9400

e-mail: postur@els.is

Icelandic Competition Authority
(Samkeppniseftirlitid)

Tel.: 552 7422

e-mail: samkeppni@samkeppni.is

Website: www.samkeppni.is

Borgarttn 35

105 Reykjavik
Fax: 591 0050
Website: www.sa.is

Setun 1

105 Reykjavik

Fax: 535 5601
Website: www.asi.is

Skulagata 63

150 Reykjavik

Fax: 580 9401
Website: www.patent.is

Raudararstigur 10
P.O. Box 5120
125 Reykjavik
Fax: 562 7422

The Institute of State Authorized Public

Accountants in Iceland (FLE)
(Félag 16ggiltra endurskodenda)
Tel.: 568 8118

e-mail: fle@fle.is

Sudurlandsbraut 6
108 Reykjavik

Fax: 568 8139
Website: www.fle.is

Association of Consulting Engineers Engjateigur 9

(Félag radgjafarverkfraedinga)
Tel.: 553 4200
e-mail: frv@frv.is

Icelandic International
Development Agency
(Préunarsamvinnustofnun Isl.)
Tel.: 545 8980

e-mail: iceida@utn.stjr.is

105 Reykjavik
Fax: 553 9480
Website: www.frv.is

Thverholt 14

P.O. Box 5330

125 Reykjavik

Fax: 545 8985
Website: www.iceida.is
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Ministry of Industry and Commerce Arnarhvoll

(Ionadar- og vidskiptaraduneyti) 150 Reykjavik

Tel.: 545 8500 Fax: 562 1289, 562 2386
e-mail: postur@ivr.stjr.is

Website: http://eng.idnadarraduneyti.is/

Ministry for Foreign Affairs Raudararstigur 25
(Utanrikisraduneyti) 150 Reykjavik

Tel.: 545 9900 Fax: 562 2373
e-mail: external@utn.stjr.is Website: www.mfa.is

Ministry for the Environment Skuggasundi 1
(Umhverfisraduneyti) 150 Reykjavik
Tel.: 545 8600 Fax: 562 4566
e-mail: postur@umbh.stjr.is

Website: http://eng.umhverfisraduneyti.is/

Ministry of Finance Arnahvall
(Fjarmalaraduneyti) 150 Reykjavik
Tel.: 545 9200 Fax: 562 8280

e-mail: postur@fjr.stjr.is
Website: http://www.ministryoffinance.is/

Ministry of Justice Skuggasund
(Démsmalaraduneyti) 150 Reykjavik
Tel.: 545 9000 Fax: 552 7340

e-mail: postur@dkm.stjr.is
Website: http://eng.domsmalaraduneyti.is/

Register of Limited Companies Laugavegur 166

(Hlutafélagaskra) 150 Reykjavik
Tel.: 563 1250 Fax: 563 1279
e-mail: rsk@rsk.is Website: www.rsk.is
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Appendix 3: Economic Information

Key Economic Indicators

1998 1999 2000

Population

Population growth (%)

GDP, billion US$

GDP per capita USS$,
current exchange rate

GDP growth,

1.01 1.2 1.4
8,142 8,487 8,462

29,738 30,617 30,099

(% change from prev. year) 5.3 3.6 5.5
Inflation, (% change in CPI) 1.7 34 5.0
Unemployment 27 20 23
GDP by Sectors, %

Agriculture 1.8 1.7 1.6
Fisheries and fish processing 12.4 11.0 9.8
Manufacturing, construction

and utilities 27.1 252 252
Private services 39.6 407 418
Public services 228 242 240
Main Export Categories (%)

Marine products 48.7 459 408
Energy-intensive products 10.6 12.1 13.6
Tourist revenues 129 129 13.1
Other 27.8 29.1 325
Export Shares (%)
United States of America 129 147 122
EEA 69.8 689 719
Other 173 164 159
Import Shares (%)
United States of America 1.1 109 11.0
EEA 654 663 652
Other 235 228 238
1998 1999 2000

2001

1.4
7,676

26,972

3.6
6.7
23

1.5
12.3

25.9
40.8
24.0

40.1
14.6
12.4
329

10.4
73.6
16.0

11.1
62.7
26.2
2001

2002 2003 2004 2005" 2006*

273,794 277,184 281,154 285,054 288,471 290,490 293,291 299,404

1.2 0.6 0.9 2
8,410 11,38 12,02 1542
29,316 39,175 40,983 51,502
-0.6 43 6.2 51 5.0
4.8 2 32 40 39
32 35 3.1 2.1 1.7
1.5 1,5 1,4 -
10.7 9.3 8.7 -
237 239 244 -
422 423 430 -
247 256 250 -
416 398 408 -
14 146 13.1 -
12 129 13 -
324 327 331 -
10.8 9.3 9.3 -
75.1 765 782 -
141 142 125 -
11.1 74 10.1 -
60.5 63.8 704 -
284 288 195 -
2002 2003 2004 2005 "2006 >
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Fiscal and Monetary Indicators

Public sector balance

(% of GDP) 0.5
Central Government

financial balance (% of GDP) 1.1
Central bank repo yield 3) 7.5
Long-term interest rates3)

(5-year Treasury notes) 7.5
Effective exchange rate
of the ISK (% change) -1.5

1) Estimate
2) Forcast, 2006
3) Yield in the end of each year

24

25
9.0

9.6

0.0

2.5

2.5
11.4

0.2

0.2

0.6
10.1

9.1

-16.6

Source: Statistics Iceland and The Ministry of Finance.
For updates see website: www.statice.is and www.stjr.is/fjr

-0.4
5.8

2.5

-2.1 0.1 33
-1.7 1.0 3.8
53 825 105
6.9 7.5 8.1
6.3 1.8 9.1

1.1

1.4

9.3

Exchange Rates (average buying/selling 01.01.2005)

1998
US$ 69.51
UK Pound 115.10
Yen 0.6115

EUR

* Exchange Rate 01.01.2006
Source: Central Bank of Iceland

1999

72.55
117.13
0.7109

72.84

For updates see website: www.sedlabanki.is
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2000

84.70
126.25
0.7374

78.83

2001

103.20
149.56
0.7856

91.33

2002

80.77
130.09
0.6805

84.71

2003

71.16
126.69
0.6656

89.76

2004

61.19
118.15
0.5969

83.51

2005%*

63.13
108.85
0.5376

74.70
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